
�

�

���������	
����	
�����
�����

������������

������������������� !�"#�$��%�&���
��'
����	%���
��(#�)*+,-,./0(/,12�30*20�)4����4��5���#������

�6	�����
���(#�721,28�(-*�(*9:/���#������

��
��;%���������<%���	�������(#�721,28�=>�?@A@B@CD@�EFGH@�IIJIK�LMCNMOOGCP�QRMBH�S@TU@BOVGW�MCH�XDYGNGYG@O��Z#�)*9:/�+22/,-[�.\]2*��2�(-*�:�Z�,\�-9/,\2���5#� �̂���

��_�̀���

�<����&��(#�721,28�=>�?@A@B@CD@�EFGH@�IIabK�EFGH@cGC@O�ARB�dRPGD�MCH�XDDFBMDe�fdgXh�i@OYGCP�Z#�)*9:/�:�Z�,\�jk)�l2./,-[�2m�,:+2-/�(��9\(/,9-��n#���
�����

��_�̀������������ò��p���������(#�qr!�r(��9/�l�:2.�(-*�l,+2�,-2.�Z#�721,28�=>�?@A@B@CD@�EFGH@�IIJK�s@H@BMc�tBGY@uGC�MCH�vYMY@�tBGY@uGC�wRY@�Qe�SMGc�QMccRYO�\#�721,28�x�,*2�,-2.�y90�q9/2�r��!(,��y90�z,0./�l,+2�!(,�4,-�72[,./0(-/�q9/20.�*#�)Z.2-/22�l9/(��72:90/�{z|�"�"#}~{��{Z���2#�721,28�(-*�(*9:/�.,[-(/�02�120,y,\(/,9-�/0(,-,-[�(-*�\20/,y,\(/,9-�02m�,02+2-/�y#� 721,28�(-*�(*9:/��(-1(..,-[�r9(0*�qr!�r(��9/��0,/20,(��](0/���}#���
�����

���������
�����������(#�721,28�(-*�(*9:/��(-1(..,-[�r9(0*� 091,.,9-(��r(��9/��0,/20,(��](0/�Z#�721,28�=>�?@A@B@CD@�EFGH@cGC@O�IIIbK�wRY@B�LVMcc@CP@O����#�<�

��	����	���;__��������_���̀����
����������
�����������(#�721,28�(-*�)*9:/�x�,*2�,-2.�y90�)\\2:/,-[�90�72�2\/,-[�|,[-(/�02���02�)yy,*(1,/.��~#�'
���%���
�����&�
����
����������
������������
�6	�����
����
�������%����(#� �Z�,\�,-.:2\/,9-�90�2�(+,-(/,9-�9y�Z(��9/.�(-*�\20/,y,\(/2.��z|�"�"#n��{"��Z#�721,28�90�,-.:2\/,9-�9y�\20/(,-�+(/20,(�.�Z��(�/]90,�2*�:20.9-.��z|�"�"#n��{���\#�3Z.201(/,9-�9y�/(Z��(/,9-��z|�"�"#n}"�{���*#�3Z.201(/,9-�9y�*�:�,\(/,9-��z|�"�"#n}"5{5�{(��2#�3Z.201(/,9-�9y�9:2-,-[�y#� z,�,-[�(� 09/2./�/9�(�qr!�r(��9/��z|"�"#}~{��{\�{5����#� �̀����'
��
��(#�721,28�0��2�"|4�#����(-*�(*9:/�\0,/20,(��"�#��	���%����
�(#�721,28�(-*�(*9:/���:�,\(/,9-� 9�,\��(-*�x�,*2�,-2.��""#���%�	
��(#�721,28�=>�?@A@B@CD@�EFGH@cGC@O�IIaIK�?@DRFCY��BRD@HFB@�vFTTMBe��"�#���������%���
��	����M��721,28��>�?@A@B@CD@�EFGH@cGC@O�IIaaK��ROYu>c@DYGRC�wRYGCP�veOY@T�XFHGY��BRD@HFB@O�vFTTMBe�Z#�)�/]90,�2��.2�9y�)�/9+(/2*��-*2:2-*2-/�)�*,/�.�./2+��"�#�;���	�
�

Sections 3 and 4 amended 9/21/22

- amended for General Election 9/21/22

- amended for General Election 9/21/22



IN THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA 

ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER A-2022-009 
(Supersedes Administrative Order A-2022-004) 

HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY 
CANVASSING BOARD APPOINTMENTS 

Section 102.141, Florida Statutes, provides for the appointment 
and duties of the county canvassing board. The chief judge is 
empowered by this statute to appoint a county judge to serve on the 
canvassing board and to appoint substitute and alternate members of 
the canvassing board. It is necessary to update the judicial 
appointments to the Hillsborough Canvassing Board in preparation 
for the 2022 primary and general elections. 

By the power vested in the chief judge under article V, section 
2(d), Florida Constitution; sections 43.26 and 102.141, Florida 
Statutes; and Florida Rule of General Practice and Judicial 
Administration 2.215(b)(2), it is ORDERED: 

1. County Court Judge Appointment 
Hillsborough County Court Judge Margaret R. Taylor is 

appointed to continue serving as the county court judge member of 
the Hillsborough County Canvassing Board. 

2. Substitute Appointment 
If Judge Taylor is unable to serve for any reason, then 

Hillsborough County Court Judge Miriam V. Valkenburg is appointed 
as the county court judge member of the Hillsborough County 
Canvassing Board in Judge Taylor's stead. If neither Judge Taylor nor 
Judge Valkenburg is able to serve for any reason, then Hillsborough 
County Court Judge Daryl M. Manning is appointed as the county 
court judge member of the Hillsborough County Canvassing Board. 

3. Alternate Appointment 
In accordance with section 102.141(1)(e), Florida Statutes, if 

Judge Valkenburg is not serving on the canvassing board under 
section 2 of this administrative order, then she is appointed to serve 
as the alternate member of the Hillsborough County Canvassing 



Board. If Judge Valkenburg is serving on the canvassing board under 
section 2 of this administrative order, then Judge Manning is 
appointed to serve as the alternate member of the Hillsborough 
County Canvassing Board. 

4. Substitute or Alternate Appointment 
If Judge Valkenburg is not serving as a member of the 

canvassing board in Judge Taylor's stead, and a substitute or 
alternate member of the canvassing board is needed under section 
102.141(1)(d), then Judge Valkenburg is appointed as the substitute 
or alternate member of the Hillsborough County Canvassing Board. If 
Judge Valkenburg is serving as a member of the canvassing board in 
Judge Taylor's stead or if she is otherwise not available to serve as the 
substitute or alternate member under section 102.141(1)(d), then 
Judge Manning is appointed as the substitute or alternate member of 
the Hillsborough County Canvassing Board. 

5. Additional Substitute or Alternate Board Member 
If Judges Taylor, Valkenburg and Manning are all unavailable to 

serve on the canvassing board under the provisions above, then 
Hillsborough County Court Judge Frances M. Perrone, Hillsborough 
County Judge Jessica G. Costello, and Hillsborough County Court 
Judge Jack Gutman are appointed to serve as substitute or alternate 
members of the Hillsborough County Canvassing Board. 

6. Previous Administrative Order Superseded 
This administrative order supersedes Administrative Order A-

2022-004 (Hillsborough County Canvassing Board Appointments). 

7. Effective Date 
This administrative order is effective immediately. 

onald N. Ficarrotta, Chief Judge 

Page 2 of 3 -Administrative Order A-2022-009 
(Hillsborough County Canvassing Board Appointments) 



Original: 
Copy: 

Cindy Stuart, Clerk of the Circuit Court 
The Honorable Margaret R. Taylor 
The Honorable Miriam V. Valkenburg 
The Honorable Daryl M. Manning 
The Honorable Frances M. Perrone 
The Honorable Jessica G. Costello 
The Honorable Jack Gutman 
Craig Latimer, Hillsborough County Supervisor of 

Elections 
Kimberly Overman, Chair, Hillsborough County Board of 

County Commissioners 
Christine Beck, County Attorney 

Page 3 of 3- Administrative Order A-2022-009 
(Hillsborough County Canvassing Board Appointments) 



����������	
��
���
�	���
�
����������	������������������������� �! ""#�$��%���
��	��&����'
��	���
��	���	��(�����
��	��&�
)����
'����
)�
�&�����
)��*������&�
)���&&�'���������
��*
�%���
�'�����*��(����	��������������+,�������	�+-�,�./0�-�1)�����������	��������(����*����
�222-��'-��(-��1)��3453�"������6��� �! ""����
���''��	
�&����(��
�*����
�'��
��	��
���	�����
)�
���')�(�����(�
������	'�������	�
)���&&�'���������
�-�7����	����'
��	��&&�'���,�
)��'�	(�������	���������
�	�����'�	&����	���(��
�(�����*����
�'��
��	��'��	
��8�*��	
��,�����
�(�
�	�,�9��'
��	�:�
,�%��(����	��,�')����	���,��	���	�&�������	���(�������'�
�;�	-�1)��'�	(�����	�*�����	����'
��	��&&�'����
�������(�����'��%�	'���,�'����'
�������,��	��
�<���	
�����������'
��	��	�'�����
�
���	�����'��%��
�	�����	���''���'
�*�&����'��
�&
�	��
)�����'
��	-�



����������	
����
�����
�����
	�������������
	��������
���������������� !!���� "�#$ % �"�� $&�#'���$'(��'#"�$&� ��#'����� !!����)*�$�"�*#�$&������ $��'#"� #�!�('!�#*$ +������,��-�./0123�4567�28/�9:;;<=6561>8�?61@23�A8/5:44B<�C44:D/�E:;;�=/�05/</@2�F2�F;;�7//2:@><G���HI�J$$�#"����� !!�� (#� #�K)*#�'�� L'!�'#"��'M�� (#�K)�%*��)K�! +�+*���#$�K)�K#$ !�$&��$ ���$&�����$ #(� ���+&�"K!�"�$*���( #������N��J$�$&���$'�$�*%��'+&����$ #(O�$&��P'#L'�� #(�Q*'�"�� !!�'!!*��%*��'�$*$'!�*%�R�� #K$���%*��)K�! +�+*���#$�%*��P'#L'�� #(�Q*'�"����$ #(����SK�! +�+*���#$� ��! � $�"�$*��'$$����*�� ��K���� $& #�$&��'K$&*� $M�*%�$&��P'#L'�� #(�Q*'�"����R��T�'(���*%��'!!*$��'#"�� (#'$K����� !!����)�*U�+$�"�%*��$&��)K�! +�$*������&�#���L �� #(�L*$��� #$�#$�'#"�� (#'$K����'$+&�����V��W*�)&*$*��*��L "�*���'M����$'X�#����Y��J(�#"'��� !!����)*�$�"�*#�$&��ZK)��L �*��*%�[!�+$ *#������ $���M�V�S��$&��"'M���%*���$&�����$ #(����\��� #K$���� !!����)*�$�"�*#�$&��ZK)��L �*��*%�[!�+$ *#������ $��� $& #�*#��"'M�'%$���$&�����$ #(������



    Florida Department of State Page 1 of 2 

Canvassing Board Membership and Activities 
DE Reference Guide 0020 (Updated 03-2022)(supersedes all prior versions) 
These guidelines are for reference only. They are not to be construed as legal advice or representation. For any particular set of facts or 
circumstances, refer to the applicable state, federal law, and case law, and/or consult a private attorney before drawing any legal 
conclusions or relying upon this information. 

OVERVIEW 

• Membership.

o The Board is composed of three members:  the supervisor of elections a county court judge who acts as the
chair, and the chair of the board of county commissioners.

• Substitute.

o Substitutes must be appointed whenever a member is disqualified or unable to serve in accordance with
section 102.141(1), Fla. Stat.

o A substitute cannot be a candidate with opposition in the election being canvassed and cannot be an active
participant in the campaign or candidacy of any candidate with opposition in the election being canvassed.
For what constitutes active participation in the campaign or candidacy of a candidate, see Division of
Elections Advisory Opinion DE 09-07.

• Alternate.

o The board must have two alternates designated. The long-term service on a canvassing board can place an
undue burden on a volunteer member’s other professional and personal obligations. Therefore, an alternate
serves as a back-up in the event a member is unable to participate in a meeting of the board.

o The alternates should be appointed when the canvassing board membership is designated.

o If not otherwise serving as one of the three canvassing board members, the alternate can be present,
observe and communicate with the other board members but cannot vote in the board’s decisions or
determinations.  The process for appointing alternates is set out in section 102.141(1), Fla. Stat.

• Duties.

o Board members are required to undergo training including signature verification training. The canvassing
board is responsible for a number of activities in the conduct of elections and results processing and reporting.

o Duties begin as early as the pre-election (public logic and accuracy) testing of voting equipment is
scheduled which must be within the 25 days before early voting starts in the respective county1. Duties
include but are not limited to canvassing of vote-by-mail ballots which can start as soon after the L&A
testing. Duties continue through election night reporting and certification of elections results, and end with
the post-election voting system audit, which must be completed no later than the 7th day following the
board’s certification of the election.

o This reference guide focuses specifically on the membership requirement for those activities.

• Disqualification and/or removal of members.

o Authority to remove a canvassing board member. See Division of Elections’ Advisory Opinion DE 15-03

o ‘Active participation’ by a canvassing board member. See Division of Elections’ Advisory Opinion DE 08-10.

1 § 101.657, Fla. Stat. – The minimum mandatory EV period is 8 days beginning 10 days before election day with no less than 8 hours 
and no more than 12 hours per day. Counties can offer additional days of EV up to the 15th day before Election Day and/or the 2nd 
day before Election day. 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=102.141&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
http://opinions.dos.state.fl.us/searchable/pdf/2009/de0907.pdf
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=102.141&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
https://opinions.dos.state.fl.us/searchable/pdf/2015/de1503.pdf
https://opinions.dos.state.fl.us/searchable/pdf/2008/de0810.pdf


    Florida Department of State Page 2 of 2 

REQUISITE MEMBERSHIP FOR CANVASSING BOARD ACTIVITIES 

• Unless otherwise specified in law or rule, the canvassing board may act when two members are present, thereby
constituting a majority. The majority must agree in order to take action. See also DE Advisory Opinion 05-08.   The
chart below details required membership for each category of activity.

Activity Number of Board Members to be Present Citation: law(s) and/or rule(s) 

Public logic & accuracy testing 
• At least one member for test
• All members to certify the accuracy of

test 
Section 101.5612(2), Fla. Stat. 

Duplication of ballot 

• Majority to be present to approve
ballots to be duplicated

• At least one member to be present
during duplication of ballots

Sections 101.5614(5), 101.68, 
and 102.141(8), Fla. Stat. 

Canvassing vote-by-mail ballots 

• Majority to approve and order the
opening of the ballots

• At least one member to be present at
all times during opening and running 
of the ballots through tabulation 
system 

Sections 101.68, 101.6925, and 
102.141(2) & (8), Fla. Stat. 

Determination to count or reject 
vote-by-mail ballots 

• Majority to determine whether to
count or reject a ballot

Sections 101.68, 101.6925, and 
102.141(2), Fla. Stat. 

Finding signatures on provisional 
ballot or vote-by-mail ballot 
certificate/cure affidavit and voter 
record do not match signature  

• Majority and beyond reasonable
doubt

Sections 101.048 and 101.68, 
Fla. Stat. 

Canvassing of provisional ballots 
• Majority to determine whether to

count or reject (which latter must be
by preponderance of the evidence)

Sections 101.048, 101.049, 
101.6925, and 102.141(2), Fla. 
Stat.; Rule 1S-2.037, Fla. Admin. 
Code 

Recount 

• Majority at all times during recount
process

• All members for determination or
decision to resolve a discrepancy
during a recount

Sections 102.141 and 102.166, 
Fla. Stat.; Rules 1S-2.027, and 
1S-2.031, Fla. Admin. Code 

Certification of election results  
and conduct of elections report  • Majority to certify results Section 102.141, Fla. Stat. 

Post-election certification audit of 
voting system 

• Majority at all times during audit
process

Section 101.591, Fla. Stat.; Rule 
1S-5.026(4)(e), Fla. Admin. Code 

http://opinions.dos.state.fl.us/searchable/pdf/2005/de0508.pdf
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.5612&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5614.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.68&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.68.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=102.141&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.68&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.68.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.6925&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.6925.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=102.141&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.68&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.68.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.6925&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.6925.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=102.141&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.048&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.048.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.68&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.68.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.048&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.048.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.049&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.049.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.6925&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.6925.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=102.141&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=ELECTIONS&ID=1S-2.037
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=recounts&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=recounts&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.166.html
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=ELECTIONS&ID=1S-2.027
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=ELECTIONS&ID=1S-2.031
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.591&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.591.html
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=CERTIFICATION%20OF%20ELECTRONIC%20OR%20ELECTROMECHANICAL%20VOTING%20SYSTEMS&ID=1S-5.026


Day Date Time Length  Activity

Thurs 10/6/2022 11:00 AM 3 hrs Public Logic and Accuract Teesting, includes testing of the voting equipment 

used to tabulate Vote By Mail, Early Voting and Election Day ballots, and 

recount/audit system

Mon 10/10/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Tues 10/11/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Wed 10/12/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Thurs 10/13/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Fri 10/14/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Mon 10/17/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Tues 10/18/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Wed 10/19/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Wed 10/19/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Thurs 10/20/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Thurs 10/20/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Thurs 10/20/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Thurs 10/20/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Thurs 10/20/2022 11:00 AM 2 hours Canvassing Board, if held; Canvass Mail Ballots, Adjudicate Voter Intent

Fri 10/21/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Fri 10/21/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Fri 10/21/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Fri 10/21/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Fri 10/21/2022 1:30 PM until done Duplication, if needed

Mon 10/24/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Mon 10/24/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Mon 10/24/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Mon 10/24/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Mon 10/24/2022 1:30 PM until done Duplication, if needed

Tues 10/25/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Tues 10/25/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Tues 10/25/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Tues 10/25/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Tues 10/25/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Wed 10/26/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Wed 10/26/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Wed 10/26/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Wed 10/26/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Wed 10/26/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Wed 10/26/2022 1:30 PM until done Duplication, if needed

Thurs 10/27/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates



Day Date Time Length  Activity

Thurs 10/27/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Thurs 10/27/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Thurs 10/27/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Thurs 10/27/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Thurs 10/27/2022 11:00 AM 2 hours Canvassing Board, if held; Canvass Mail Ballots, Adjudicate Voter Intent

Fri 10/28/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Fri 10/28/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Fri 10/28/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Fri 10/28/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Fri 10/28/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Fri 10/28/2022 1:30 PM until done Duplication, if needed

Sat 10/29/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Sun 10/30/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Mon 10/31/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Mon 10/31/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Mon 10/31/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Mon 10/31/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Mon 10/31/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Mon 10/31/2022 1:30 PM until done Duplication, if needed

Tues 11/1/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Tues 11/1/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Tues 11/1/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Tues 11/1/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Tues 11/1/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Wed 11/2/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Wed 11/2/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Wed 11/2/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Wed 11/2/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Wed 11/2/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Wed 11/2/2022 1:30 PM until done Duplication, if needed

Thurs 11/3/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Thurs 11/3/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Thurs 11/3/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Thurs 11/3/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Thurs 11/3/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Thurs 11/3/2022 11:00 AM 2 hours Canvassing Board, if held; Canvass Mail Ballots, Adjudicate Voter Intent

Fri 11/4/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Fri 11/4/2022 8:00 AM 45 minutes Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized Individuals, by appt.

Fri 11/4/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Ballot Opening, if needed

Fri 11/4/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Fri 11/4/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Fri 11/4/2022 1:30 PM until done Duplication, if needed

Sat 11/5/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Sun 11/6/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 



Day Date Time Length  Activity

Mon 11/7/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Mon 11/7/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Mon 11/7/2022 9:00 AM until done EV Ballots Audit Scan 

Mon 11/7/2022 11:00 AM 2 hours Canvassing Board, if held; Canvass Mail Ballots, Adjudicate Voter Intent

Mon 11/7/2022 1:30 PM until done Duplication, if needed

Tues 11/8/2022 8:00 AM 30 minutes Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates

Tues 11/8/2022 9:00 AM until done VBM Tabulation, if needed; Audit Scan

Tues 11/8/2022 4:00 PM 2 hours Canvassing Board; Canvass Mail Ballots, Adjudicate Voter Intent

Tues 11/8/2022 7:00 PM Canvassing Board; Begin reporting preliminaryt election results 

Wed 11/9/2022 8:00 AM until done ED Ballots Audit Scan 

Thurs 11/10/2022 8:00 AM until done ED Ballots Audit Scan

Fri 11/11/2022 11:00 AM 2 hours Canvassing Board; Canvass Mail Ballot Affidavits and Provisional Ballots; 

Sat 11/12/2022 9:00 AM 1 hour Canvassing Board; Certify 1st Unofficial Results 

Sun 11/13/2022 9:00 AM until done Canvassing Board, if needed; Begin recount

Thurs 11/17/2022 11:00 AM 1 hour Canvassing Board, if needed; Certify 2nd Unofficial Results

Fri 11/18/2022 5:00 PM 1 hour Canvassing Board;  Certify Official Results; Conduct of Election Report

Tues 11/22/2022 11:00 AM 1 hour Canvassing Board; Conduct Post‐Election Audit



1 2022 General Election Activities Legally Noticed

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa
1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8
9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22
23 24 25 26 27 28 29
30 31

October 2022
SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5
6 7 8 9 10 11 12

13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30

November 2022October 3, 2022 - 
October 9, 2022
Monday, October 3

Wednesday, October 5

Friday, October 7

Tuesday, October 4

Thursday, October 6
11:00am - 11:30am Canvassing Board; Public L and A Test

Saturday, October 8

Sunday, October 9



2 2022 General Election Activities Legally Noticed

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa
1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8
9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22
23 24 25 26 27 28 29
30 31

October 2022
SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5
6 7 8 9 10 11 12

13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30

November 2022October 10, 2022 - 
October 16, 2022
Monday, October 10

8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))

Wednesday, October 12
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))

Friday, October 14
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))

Tuesday, October 11
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))

Thursday, October 13
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))

Saturday, October 15

Sunday, October 16



3 2022 General Election Activities Legally Noticed

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa
1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8
9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22
23 24 25 26 27 28 29
30 31

October 2022
SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5
6 7 8 9 10 11 12

13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30

November 2022October 17, 2022 - 
October 23, 2022
Monday, October 17

8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))

Wednesday, October 19
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)

Friday, October 21
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
1:30pm - 5:00pm Duplication (If needed)

Tuesday, October 18
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))

Thursday, October 20
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
11:00am - 12:00pm Canvassing Board, if held

Saturday, October 22

Sunday, October 23



4 2022 General Election Activities Legally Noticed

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa
1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8
9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22
23 24 25 26 27 28 29
30 31

October 2022
SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5
6 7 8 9 10 11 12

13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30

November 2022October 24, 2022 - 
October 30, 2022
Monday, October 24

8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
1:30pm - 5:00pm Duplication (If needed)

Wednesday, October 26
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 
1:30pm - 5:00pm Duplication (If needed)

Friday, October 28
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 
1:30pm - 5:00pm Duplication (If needed)

Tuesday, October 25
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 

Thursday, October 27
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 
11:00am - 1:00pm Canvassing Board, if held

Saturday, October 29
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 

Sunday, October 30
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 



5 2022 General Election Activities Legally Noticed

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa
1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8
9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22
23 24 25 26 27 28 29
30 31

October 2022
SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5
6 7 8 9 10 11 12

13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30

November 2022October 31, 2022 - 
November 6, 2022
Monday, October 31

8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 
1:30pm - 5:00pm Duplication (If needed)

Wednesday, November 2
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 
1:30pm - 5:00pm Duplication (If needed)

Friday, November 4
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 
1:30pm - 5:00pm Duplication (If needed)

Tuesday, November 1
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 

Thursday, November 3
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
8:00am - 8:45am Review or Inspect Ballot Materials by Authorized 
Individuals, by appt. (101.572(2))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM Ballot Opening (If needed)
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 
11:00am - 1:00pm Canvassing Board, if held

Saturday, November 5
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 

Sunday, November 6
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 



6 2022 General Election Activities Legally Noticed

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa
1 2 3 4 5

6 7 8 9 10 11 12
13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30

November 2022
SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30 31

December 2022November 7, 2022 - 
November 13, 2022
Monday, November 7

8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
9:00am - 1:00pm EV Ballots Audit scan 
11:00am - 1:00pm Canvassing Board, if held
1:30pm - 5:00pm Duplication (If needed)

Wednesday, November 9
8:00am - 5:00pm ED Ballots Audit Scan 

Friday, November 11
11:00am - 1:00pm Canvassing Board (Cure Affidavits for VBM and 
Provisionals)

Tuesday, November 8
8:00am - 8:30am Public Inspection of Ballots and Certificates 
(101.572(1))
9:00am - 5:00pm VBM tabulation; audit scan (If needed)
4:00pm - 6:00pm Canvassing Board
7:00pm - 11:00pm Canvassing Board

Thursday, November 10
8:00am - 5:00pm ED Ballots Audit Scan

Saturday, November 12
9:00am - 10:00am Canvassing Board (Unofficial Results)

Sunday, November 13
9:00am - 5:00pm Canvassing Board (Begin Recount)



7 2022 General Election Activities Legally Noticed

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa
1 2 3 4 5

6 7 8 9 10 11 12
13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30

November 2022
SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30 31

December 2022November 14, 2022 - 
November 20, 2022
Monday, November 14

Wednesday, November 16

Friday, November 18
5:00pm - 6:30pm Canvassing Board (UOCAVA deadline, Certify 
Official Results, Conduct of Election Report)

Tuesday, November 15

Thursday, November 17
11:00am - 12:00pm Canvassing Board (If recount conducted, certify 
2nd Unofficial Results)

Saturday, November 19

Sunday, November 20



8 2022 General Election Activities Legally Noticed

SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa
1 2 3 4 5

6 7 8 9 10 11 12
13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30

November 2022
SuMo TuWe Th Fr Sa

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30 31

December 2022November 21, 2022 - 
November 27, 2022
Monday, November 21

Wednesday, November 23

Friday, November 25

Tuesday, November 22
11:00am - 12:00pm Canvassing Board (Audit)

Thursday, November 24

Saturday, November 26

Sunday, November 27



    Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0019  (08/2020) Page 1 of 4 

 

 Guidelines for Logic and Accuracy (L&A) Testing 
  DE Reference Guide 0019 (Updated 08/2020) 
   These guidelines are for reference only. They are not to be construed as legal advice or representation. For any particular set of facts 
   or circumstances, refer to the applicable state, federal law, and case law, and/or consult a private attorney before drawing any legal  
   conclusions or relying upon this information. 
 

 

OVERVIEW 

 100% Logic and Accuracy (L&A) Testing.  After completing maintenance and programming of voting equipment, 
the law requires a logic and accuracy (L&A) testing to be conducted on all of the voting equipment to be used in an 
election (100% L&A).  This test: 

o Is done to ensure that the system is properly programmed, the election is accurately defined on the voting 
system, and the input, output, and communication devices are working correctly.1  

o  May be conducted before or after the public L&A test (details below).  Best practice is before public L&A.  

o Involves testing:  All programmed precinct voting devices 

    All programmed voter interface devices  

    All tabulators that will be used for vote-by-mail ballots 
 

 Public L&A Testing.  A sample of the automatic tabulation equipment2 to be used in an election must be publicly 
tested to ensure equipment will correctly count the votes cast for all candidates, in all offices, and on all measures.   

o Publish public notice at least 48 hours in advance of the event.3  See more details in the “NOTICE REQUIREMENTS” 

section.  

o Complete on any day within the 25-day period4 before early voting (EV)5 is scheduled to begin in the county. 

o Requires canvassing board to convene for public L&A testing, certify to the accuracy of the test, and witness 
resetting and sealing of each device that passed to a pre-election state of readiness in such a manner as to 
secure its state of readiness until the opening of the polls (Canvassing board may designate one member to be 
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Stat
ute&Search_String=101.657&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.657.html its representative).  

o Test within presence of attending political party representatives and candidates or their representatives. 
 

NOTICE REQUIREMENTS  

 The public L&A date, time, and place must be posted at least 48-hours in advance on the supervisor of elections 
website and once in the newspaper.  If no newspaper is available, then notice may be posted in four conspicuous 
locations in the county. 

 The applicable qualifying officer (supervisor of elections or the municipal elections official) may, at the time of 
qualifying, give written notice of the public L&A test’s date, time, and location to each candidate and obtain a signed 
receipt that the notice has been given. 

 At least 30 days before early voting is scheduled to begin in the county, the applicable qualifying officer must send 
via certified mail written notice of the test date, time, and location to the county party chair of each political party 

 

1 § 101.5612(1), Fla. Stat. 
2 “Automatic tabulation equipment” is defined as the apparatus necessary to automatically examine, count, and record votes. 
3 § 101.5612(2), Fla. Stat. 
4 See s.2 of chapter 2020-109, Laws of Florida, which amends subsection 101.5612(2), Fla. Stat.  
5 § 101.657, Fla. Stat. – The minimum mandatory EV period is 8 days beginning 10 days before election day with no less than 8 hours 

and no more than 12 hours per day. Counties can offer additional days of EV up to the 15th day before Election Day and/or the 2nd 

day before Election day. 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.657&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.657.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.657&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.657.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://laws.flrules.org/2020/109


    Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0019  (08/2020) Page 2 of 4 

and to all candidates other than those for statewide office whose names appear on the ballot in the county and who 
did not receive written notification from the applicable qualifying officer at the time of qualifying.6 
 

TESTING REQUIREMENTS  
 Public L&A testing may include all or a sample of the tabulation equipment.  If the county chooses to publicly test 

only a sample, the requirements7 are: 
o A random selection of at least 5% or 10 precinct optical scan devices, whichever is greater 
o Ballot marking devices, the overall number of which is at the discretion of the supervisor, to ensure that 

they satisfy accessibility requirements as described in subsections 101.56062(1)(n) and (2), Fla. Stat. 
o Early voting device(s), the overall number of which is at the discretion of the supervisor 
o All central count (vote-by-mail) tabulators 

 Testing requires producing/processing a set of pre-determined valid votes for each candidate and for each measure, 
as well as one or more overvoted ballots for each contest.  This is commonly called a test deck.  See additional test 
deck details in the “TEST DECK REQUIREMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS” section. 

 After the test deck has been processed through the tabulation equipment, a comparison is made between the pre-
determined test deck results and a printout of tabulator results to ensure that the “expected” vote counts matched 
the actual vote counts. 

 If a tested tabulation device is found to have an error in tabulation, it is deemed unsatisfactory and the canvassing 
board must take, at least, the following steps8:  

 
o Determine the cause of the error 
o Identify and test other devices that could reasonably be assumed to have the same error 
o Test a sufficient number of devices to determine that all other devices are satisfactory 

 If the canvassing board deems any device to be unsatisfactory, it may require all devices to be tested or may declare 
that all devices are unsatisfactory. 

 If an error is found in the operation or output of a particular device, such as with spelling or the order of candidates 
on a report, the canvassing board must determine whether this is cause to deem a device to be unsatisfactory.9 

 Mandatory additional step for public testing of equipment used to tabulate vote-by-mail ballots - If any error is 
detected on electronic or electromechanical voting systems configured to tabulate vote-by-mail ballots at a central 
or regional site, the statutes call for the error to be corrected, and for testing to be repeated until an errorless count 
is achieved immediately before the start of the official count of the ballots and again after the completion of the 
official count.10 

 When the public L&A testing has been satisfactorily completed, the canvassing board or its representative, the 
representatives of the political parties, and the candidates or their representatives who attended the test shall be 
allowed to witness the resetting to a pre-election state of readiness of each device that passed and the sealing of 
each device that passed to secure its state until the opening of the polls.11 

 The canvassing board or its representative shall execute a written statement identifying the tabulation devices that 
were tested, the results of the testing, the device’s protective counter numbers (if applicable) the number of the 

 

6 See s. 2 of chapter 2020 – 109, Laws of Florida, which amends subsection 101.5612(2), Fla. Stat.  
7 § 101.5612(4)(a)1., Fla. Stat.  
8 § 101.5612(4)(a)2., Fla. Stat. 
9 § 101.5612(4)(a)3., Fla. Stat. 
10 § 101.5612(3), Fla. Stat. 
11 §101.5612(4)(b), Fla. Stat. 

 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=101.56062&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.56062.html
http://laws.flrules.org/2020/109
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html


    Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0019  (08/2020) Page 3 of 4 

seal securing each tabulation device at the conclusion of testing, any problems reported to the board as a result of 
the testing, and whether each device tested was deemed to be satisfactory or unsatisfactory.12 

 If any tabulating device is deemed to be unsatisfactory, it must be recoded, repaired, or replaced and must then be 
made available for retesting. Such device must be determined by the canvassing board or its representative to be 
satisfactory before it may be used in any election. The canvassing board or its representative shall announce at the 
close of the first testing the date, place, and time that any unsatisfactory device will be retested or may, at the 
option of the board, notify by telephone each person who was present at the first testing as to the date, place, and 
time that the retesting will occur.13  

 Records must be kept of all pre-election testing of electronic or electromechanical tabulation devices used in any 
election. These records must be available for inspection and/or reference during public L&A testing.  Records must 
include the name of the person who tested each device, along with the date, place, time, and results of each test.14 

 Test records must be retained as part of the official records of the election.15 

 Once the logic and accuracy test is completed, canvassing boards may begin to canvass returned vote-by-mail ballots 
pursuant to Executive Order 20-149 for the 2020 Election cycle only. 
 

TEST DECK REQUIREMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS  

 A test deck is a set of ballots with pre-audited results, meaning that they have a pre-determined number of valid 
votes for each candidate on each measure, with at least one or more overvoted ballots for each contest (to ensure 
that voting device will alert voter that overvoted races will not be counted)16. 

 Pre-audited results are used to verify the accuracy of the public L&A test by comparing the pre-audited results to the 
public test results. The pre-audited results may be manually determined, electronically generated (i.e. using a 
spreadsheet), or produced during pre-public L&A testing.   

 L&A tests must include actual ballots that will be used in the election; and if the county uses ballot-on-demand, 
these ballots, using the same paper stock as will be used for the election, must be included.17   

 The test deck should include at least one blank ballot (to ensure that voting device will accept a blank ballot), hand 
marked ballots, and ballot marking device ballots. The test deck may also include electronically marked ballots. 

 The creation of an “enhanced” test desk with non-traditional vote patterns and/or the addition of more test ballots 
to make up a unique number of votes for each candidate is strongly recommended.  While a county may have used a 
1-2-3 test deck pattern, it is not the most precise way to verify that votes are being tabulated correctly. 

 

 

 

[Checklist for Public Logic and Accuracy Testing on next page] 

 

12 § 101.5612(4)(c), Fla. Stat. 
13 § 101.5612(4)(d), Fla. Stat. 
14 § 101.5612(4)(e), Fla. Stat. 
15 § 101.5612(4)(e), Fla. Stat. 
16 § 101.5612(3), Fla. Stat. 
17 § 101.5612(5), Fla. Stat. 

https://www.flgov.com/wp-content/uploads/orders/2020/EO_20-149.pdf
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5612.html


    Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0019  (08/2020) Page 4 of 4 

CHECKLIST FOR PUBLIC LOGIC AND ACCURACY TESTING 

The L&A test ideally serves as a dress rehearsal for the actual election and should include the following key elements:  
 
 A sample of available voting devices or 100% 
 
 One or more early voting devices 
 
 All vote-by-mail tabulators 
 
 Examination of ballot marking devices, along with the audio ballot and ADA accessories that are paired with the 

device (e.g. tactile device, visual display ballot, display contrast, ballot magnification) 
 
 A pre-audited group of ballots, with a predetermined number of valid votes for each candidate, on each 

measure, to include one or more ballots with an overvote 
 
 The test deck should include as many ballots as needed to accommodate a unique number of marks for each of 

the candidates and yes/no votes to ensure that the correct number of votes are counted for each candidate and 
each issue.  The supervisor of elections has discretion whether or not to examine every ballot style. 

 
 Upload of the results into the election management system 
 
 Modem upload, if applicable 
 
 Creation of the election night reporting in the XML file format18 
 
 Submission of the election night reporting in the XML file format to the Division, if a test file has not been 

previously submitted 
 
 Submission (via certified mail) of a copy of the election database (preferably with uploaded L&A results) to BVSC 

within 24 hours 19 
 
 
 

 

18 § 102.141(4), Fla. Stat.; Rule 1S-2.053, Fla. Admin. Code  

19 §101.5607(1)(b), Fla. Stat. 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=102.141&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=ELECTIONS&ID=1S-2.053
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTES/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.5607.html


 

Hillsborough County Canvassing Board 

Public Logic and Accuracy Test 

Thursday, October 6, 2022 

11:00AM  

 

Tabulation System 

448 Precincts—23 DS200 (5% by statute) 

26 Early Voting Locations – 6 DS200 (at discretion of Canvassing Board)  

Vote By Mail – 7 DS850 (100% by statute)  

ExpressVote – 1 Demonstration and audio verification  (at discretion of Canvassing Board) 

 

Clear Audit/Recount System 

7 Scanners (100%) 

 

 



� � ��

���������	�
���
��������������	�������������	������	��������������������		��������������������� ��������� !"������		����������#��$	��������%��&'������� � ���(����'��
�'�

)*+�*,--./�/0123�,45�/6+2-6423��7�8�����������

�%����
������������9��	���$�	����%����%��:;<=�>?<�;:><=@A�=<>B=C<D�A>E><�F=G><H����������I!#8�J����
�������9����H����������I #8�JK�7�LM�8
8�IL��
������M���	��	��������������8�	������
������8%�J�
����N�8�����������
������
������	����%������%����������9����������	����
�	�%���������	���	����	����	�����������	��	�
�����������%���
���	����%��9����������9�	��O����
�����������P�������������
��������%�������������9���������	����
�	�%��	����%���	���	����	����	�����������	��	�
�����������%���
���	����%��9����������9�	��O����
�����������P���������	���	����������������
����
������	����%����������
����%�����������K�7�M���	��	�����	����	�����
�����Q��	����	��R�	���%���
�����������������9�������
�(������S�%�������������L!�
������T	����	������8����%���!�����)*+�*UVVWX�/YZ[� \[X]̂_�+[X̀Wa� 5[UaVb_[�cŴ�\[d[bZX� ,]X̀ŴbXY��S�������M

�%����
���efghi�jklfkmn�ho�phnkjq�8��������� ��������R����M

��r�(��"��%�����R��� '�'Ks��'�'Ksr�8�����	����	����	�������
������	����%���������������%�����������������������	���	��������������� r(��"��%�����R��� '�'Ks���S����'!H�K�&��8�������	��	�������I���
������	����%���������������%�����������������������	���	��������������P����L!�%��������%���t��J�  �u��� r�(��"��%�����R��� '�'Ks���S����'!H�K�&��T
��������L�����'�����	��
����(((������������"��%����K���	�������	����$��������������������������"��%�����R��� '�'Ks���S����'!H�K�&��!�����#����HT���������v!#8�w�efghi�jklfkmn�ho�phnkj�xknykki�z{|�}i~��|�xkohjk�n�k��kikj}����k�n�hiq�8�������	��	�������I�������������������������%��������%�������9�������%��������������������������
�����������
����������������������������

�%�	��
��������	�����������%��������9��%�������������	�����������������J� ������� �u��� r�(��"��%�����R��� '�'Ks�Q'�'�'Ks�Q���S����'!H�K����T
���������L�����'�����	��
����(((������������"��%����K���	�������	����$��������������������������"��%�����R��� '�'Ks�Q'�'�'Ks�Q���S����'!H�K���� �������#����HT��8�	�������������v #8�w�e��kj�ki���x}���fg�x}��hn��o�jk�f�}j�����x}��hn�jklfkmnk~�xfn�ihn��kn�jk�k�pk~�x���������phnkj�ohj�fmk��i�}i��ok~kj}���mn}nk�hj��h�}��k�k�n�hiq�8�����	����	����	�������
������	����%�	��������������%�����������������������	���	��������������� ������� r�(��"��%�����R���IT
���	����$������"��%�����R�������������������������9�������������������������J� LM�8
8�Q��LK!K�K���&�&�'�'Ks�Q��8�������	��	�������I���
������	����%�	��������������%�����������������������	���	�������������������L!�%�������J� ������� �u��� r�(��"��%�����R��� '�'Ks���S����'!H�K�&��T
���������L�����'�����	��
����(((������������"��%����K���	�������	����$��������������������������"��%�����R��� '�'Ks�Q'�'�'Ks�Q��7�  #8���	�����%����		���������r�(��"��%�����R��K�T
���������
����������������%���������r�(��"��%�����R�������� #8���	�%����		��K�7� T
� #8����%������
��������	��	�������
�������(((�����������������	�����%����		���������'�����	��
����"��%�����R����������9�
�����%������
�������������
���������K�T
���������
�����������	�������%�������������'�������������������� #8���	�%����		��K�7�R����	�������	����	�����������������������������������		��
���	����$�����������	��%���
���	����$K���



Florida Department of State  Page 1 of 1 

 

FEDERAL WRITE-IN ABSENTEE AND STATE WRITE-IN VOTE-BY-MAIL BALLOTS 
DE Reference Guide 0002 (Updated 07/2018) 
These guidelines are for reference only. They are not to be construed as legal advice or representation. For any particular set of 
facts or circumstances, refer to the applicable state, federal law, and case law, and/or consult a private attorney before drawing 
any legal conclusions or relying upon this information. 

FEDERAL WRITE-IN ABSENTEE BALLOT (FWAB)  
(UOCAVA, 52 U.S.C 20303; sections 101.6952 and 101.697, F.S.; Rules 1S-2.030and 1S-2.051, F.A.C.) 

 Used ONLY by UOCAVA voters: 
o Absentee military members and their family members (i.e., uniformed services members on active duty 

away from place of residence – includes ‘absent stateside’ and overseas) 
o Overseas voters (i.e., all other U.S. citizens residing outside the U.S.) 

 Delivery method:  
o Mail, fax, e-mail, online (if an online ballot delivery system is approved for use in the voter’s county of 

residence), or personal delivery (family member or voter may pick up ballot)  

 Return method:  
o If overseas voter, by fax, mail, or by personal delivery (by or on behalf of voter) 
o If absentee stateside military (& spouse or dependent child thereof) by mail and personal delivery only  

 Count FWAB ONLY: 
o Previous absentee ballot request on record. (Voter must swear or affirm on FWAB that he or she has not yet 

received state’s regular vote-by-mail ballot. Closer to election day, a voter could request a regular vote-by-
mail ballot and submit a FWAB at the same time)  

o For votes cast in federal, state, and local elections received before 7 p.m. on Election Day. See Special Note 
below regarding 10-day extension for overseas voters.  

o If the FWAB is returned postmarked by Election Day (The statutory presumption is that the return date on a 
returned overseas vote-by-mail ballot is the date stated on the outside of the return envelope regardless of 
an absent postmark or a postmark later than Election Day.) (section 101.6952, F.S.) 
 

STATE WRITE-IN VOTE-BY-MAIL BALLOT (sections 101.6951 and 101.6952, F.S.; Rule 1S-2.028, F.A.C.) 

 Available to any overseas voter (not to absent stateside military) 

 Must be requested between 90 and 180 days before a general election.  

 Must be based on military or other contingency that precludes normal mail delivery of regular vote-by-mail 
ballot - if voter’s circumstances change, voter should be sent regular vote-by-mail ballot. 

 Includes all offices (federal, state, or local) for which voter otherwise entitled to vote. 

 Send to voter by mail, fax or e-mail (Rule 1S-2.030, F.A.C.) 

 Count if regular vote-by-mail ballot not received by 7 p.m. deadline on Election Day (by mail or fax only) (Rule 
1S-2.030, F.A.C.) See Special Note below about 10-day extension for overseas voters (section 101.6952(5), F.S).  

 

 SPECIAL NOTE: A 10-day extension applies to overseas vote-by-mail ballots (regular, FWAB or State write-in) only 
in Presidential Preference Primary Elections, general elections, and special elections: 

 If received after 7 p.m. on Election Day but no later than 10 days thereafter, count all races and ballot measures 
on ballot, provided the ballot is postmarked or dated by Election Day, and the voter is otherwise eligible.  
 

  CANVASS ORDER OF ABSENTEE/VOTE-BY-MAIL BALLOT.  A returned regular voted vote-by-mail ballot always 
counts over a returned voted write-in absentee/vote-by-mail ballot if received by 7 p.m., Election Day. If a write-in 
vote-by-mail ballot (FWAB or state write-in) is returned first, the write-in ballot cannot be canvassed before 7 
p.m., to wait for return of the regular vote-by-mail ballot.  However, for elections in which the 10-day extension 
applies, if the write-in ballot from an overseas voter is received by 7 p.m. on Election Day, the write-in ballot must 
be set aside and shall not be canvassed until 10 days after Election Day. If the voter's regular vote-by-mail ballot is 
received within the 10-day period and is otherwise proper, that ballot shall be canvassed, and the write-in ballot 
shall not be counted. If the voter's official Florida vote-by-mail ballot is not properly received within the 10-day 
period, the write-in ballot shall then be canvassed.   



� � ��

���������	�
���
�����
������	������	��������������������		�������������������������������� !������		����������"��#	��$��
��%��&'������� � ���(����'��
�'��

)*+,-.+/-0�123�425-�67�89+.�:05�;+<-�89+.=+/�>-?+0539/5�425-30�@8>)A�BCD�EFGHIJIK�CD�:H:GLEMJK�CD�:H:GLEMIN��O�P�����Q�������	������R
��S��	�	�������T��U��� V�����	��������������
�������'	�����������T��������������
�������'	������W��V�X90��/-Y-3��Z--/�+00*-,�9�C.23+,9�,3+Y-3�.+[-/0-K�C.23+,9�0595-�+,-/5+1+[95+2/�[93,�23�02[+9.�0-[*3+57�/*<Z-3K�9/,�911+3<95+Y-.7�0595-0�5\+0�2/�5\-�9]].+[95+2/�9/,�5\-�0595-�+0�*/9Z.-�52�1+/,�9/�-̂+05+/?�/*<Z-3G�� �V�
�	��$���������
�����������R����		��_��$��������%�������%��%��	���%�	S������
�����
����T������̀������ab	��������$���	����T��������
�������U�c������ ����	�$�		$���d����������%������%���d����������abd�	�������abd������������%���������������������		�%����������$����%��		�	���%��abd����������������ab�%�����		�����������cW W�b�$���������
��������	�P

���	d�����%��	�����%�������%��%������T��$������
��������		����$��	��������� �ef�W�gd���$������ab�%�����		���������������%�����$�������������%�������������
�����
������������������������	��������%���������������%�$�����W�h�������
�����
����T������%�����	��
������%��������������������%���������	����%�������		��
������$$��%���U�������������d����#�	��������d������������%��%#d�$��%��%#d�����������������%������R�_%�����������������
���������%���SW��V�a	��_��$��
����ab���̀����������$����_�%�������
�	$�%�����������%����
�%�����

������������$��	����	���	����	����	�����������	��	����
������	����%�	�����������%��������	$��	�������$�������������
�R	���c��
����������h���	��	�����i��	��������P%��j�ch�P�P�j�k��c ����&�'Q��&'S���	�gk�����	��
��������������R��	�������������P%%�		��������
�������!����������������%�$$���P%��j��P!�P�j�k��c ����'�'Q��'�eS������	���$���������������$��������	��������R�P!�PS��O������		�
�����
�������	��
��������k�(
��������������������������
�����������%�������	�$�		����������T��������������	��������	���������%�����

��������
�������
���������	���		������	����������������%����		�����������
���	����������	����������������������%����
�%�������	��������%������	��������������%����R� �'�'WglS�� >-0-93[\m�n9/Y900+/?�6293,�o-5-3<+/95+2/�� p[[-]5�>-q-[5���������������$���������%�$���
�������̀������ab�T���������������
�������������

����������	���T�	������T�	���_��$��
��������ab���̀��������� � �̂������$����������%�$���
�����ab�T���������������
������������

�����������������	���T�	��_��$��
��������ab���̀��������	����U�O� ��������	����%����
�%�����������������%��������������%���������%�����

�������T�	�$�������d����O� ��������	����%����
�%�����������������%��������������%������%�����

�������T�	���r�%���W� � �̂������$����������%�$���
�����ab�T���������������
������������

�����������������	���T�	��_��$��
��������ab���̀��������	������	��������	����%����
�%�����������������%�������%�W�� �̂ ��



Craig Latimer
Hillsborough County, FLDate

Absentee Totals

09-Jun-2022 Supervisor of Elections

02:54 PMTime

2020 General Election 03-Nov-2020 General Election

Civilian

Start Date 01-Jan-2020  12:00 am

End Date 04-Nov-2020  12:00 am

Ballots Returned

Military

Total

Absentee requests sent first absentee ballot

Absentee ballots returned

Opening Totals

Ballots Delivered/Mailed

 0  0 

Ballots issued to requests that were canceled

Replacement absentee ballots issued

Total absentee ballots issued to valid requests

 0  0 

 0  0 

Ballots Returned

 0  0 

 0  0 Absentee ballots returned with voter errors

Total absentee ballots to be tabulated 

This Period's Activity

Absentee requests sent first absentee ballot

Ballots issued to requests that were canceled in period

Ballots Returned

Absentee ballots returned

Absentee ballots returned with voter errors

Ballots returned in this period reinstated by Cnvssg Brd

Net increase in ballots to be tabulated

 5,318  417,496 

 0  0 

 3,994  326,238 

(2) (399)

 0  0 

Total absentee ballots to be tabulated 

Absentee ballots returned with  voter errors

Absentee ballots returned

Ballots Delivered/Mailed

Closing Totals

Replacement absentee  ballots issued  145  11,615 

 5,318  417,496 

 145  11,615 
 0  0 

 3,994  326,238 

(2) (399)

 0 

 0 

 0 

 0  0  0 

 0 

 0 

 0  0  0 

 432,655 

 12,946 

 0 

 338,152 

(468)

 0 

 3,992  325,839  337,684 

 432,655 

 12,946 
 0 

 5,463  429,111  445,601 

 338,152 

(468)

 3,992  325,839  337,684 

Total absentee ballots issued to valid requests
Ballots issued to requests that were canceled
Replacement absentee ballots issued

Absentee requests sent first absentee ballot

Domestic Overseas

 0 

 0 

 0 

 0 

 0 

 0 

 0 

 3,417 

 522 

 0 

 2,708 

(6)

 2,702 

 0 

 3,417 

 522 
 0 

 3,939 

 2,708 

(6)

 2,702 

ALLBallot Style

OverseasDomestic

 42 

 0 

 0 

 0 

 0 

 0 

 941 

(1)
 974 

 127 

 0 

 0 

 772 

(4)

 0 

 983 
(1)

 974 

 127 
 0 

(4)

 0 

 0 

 42 

 768 

 982 

 1,101 

 768 

 772 

Absentee Requests

Voters requesting absentee ballots

Canceled and Ineligible absentee requests

Adjusted total of absentee requests

 41 

 0 
 41 

 2,617 

(16)
 2,601 

 78 

 0 
 78 

 2,907 

(16)
 2,891 

Voters requesting absentee ballots

Canceled and Ineligible absentee requests

 5,303 

(7)

 417,081  3,361 
(712) (11)

 432,054 
(735)

Absentee Requests

Voters requesting absentee ballots
Canceled and Ineligible absentee requests
Adjusted total of absentee requests

 5,344  419,698  3,439 
(7) (728) (11)

 5,337  418,970  3,428 

 434,961 
(751)

 434,210 

 177

 129 

Absent Dom

 0 

 0 

 0 

 0 

 0 

 5,368 

(4)
 5,450 

 537 

(57)

 0 

 5,497 
(4)

 5,450 

 537 
 0 

 4,440 

(57)

 0 

 129 

 0 

 0 

 4,383 

 5,493 

 5,987 

 4,383 

 0 

 4440 

EXAMPLE



From: Matthews, Maria I.
To: SOEList; SOEStaffContacts; Bill.Keen; charles.overturf; David Stafford; Vicky Oakes; Turner, Ron; Vicki Davis;

lscott@votebrevard.gov; Labasky, Ron - FSASE Legal Counsel
Cc: Kennedy, Jennifer L.; Marconnet, Amber; McVay, Brad R.; O"Brien, Colleen E.; Dena Hurst; Davis, Ashley E.;

Chappell, David
Subject: Notice: DOS Online Signature Matching/Verification Training Program
Date: Friday, May 6, 2022 8:00:58 AM

EXTERNAL EMAIL: Exercise Caution
with links or attachments.
 Dear Supervisors of Elections and staff,
 
The Florida Department of State is pleased to make available, pursuant to the requirements of
section 97.012(17), Florida Statutes, an online signature matching/verification training program. This
program was developed in conjunction with the Florida Institute of Government (FIOG) and based
on materials prepared by Thomas Vastrick, a forensic document examiner. The purpose of this
program is to provide a valuable foundation to performing the duties that entail signature
matching/verification under the Florida Election Code in whatever capacity.
 
Key Features

As announced at the 2022 County Canvassing Board Workshop, this program:
 

·         Covers solely standards for examining signatures to determine whether they match
o   Reminder: You must still adhere to the standards in law, as may be applicable, for

validating or invalidating, or accepting or rejecting, a ballot (e.g., vote-by-mail or
provisional), a cure affidavit, a petition, or other signed document.

·         Consists of modules, practice sessions and test questions
o   We recommend that you take notes as you proceed through the course to assist

you with recall during the practice sessions and the tests
o   A link to Mr. Vastrick’s powerpoint is available within the online program as a

supplemental resource
·         Is available at no cost
·         Is available 24/7
·         Can be paused (progress is saved) and retaken as many times as you would like
·         Includes technical support

o   Individuals taking the course can email  elearning@iog.fsu.edu. You can expect a
response within 24 business hours. If they are not able to resolve the issue, tech
support will submit a help ticket through their LMS vendor and follow up with the
individual once the issue is resolved.

·         Is approved for 2 hours of credit
·         Provides a certificate of completion for the online program

o   If an individual forgets to print out the certificate, the course lives on in the system
and the participant will be able to log back on at any time and view/print their

mailto:Maria.Matthews@DOS.MyFlorida.com
mailto:FVRSSOE@dos.myflorida.com
mailto:SOEStaffContacts@dos.myflorida.com
mailto:Bill.Keen@sumtercountyfl.gov
mailto:charles.overturf@putnam-fl.gov
mailto:DSTAFFORD@ESCAMBIAVOTES.GOV
mailto:voakes@votesjc.gov
mailto:rturner@sarasotavotes.gov
mailto:vdavis@martinvotes.gov
mailto:lscott@votebrevard.gov
mailto:rlabasky@bplawfirm.net
mailto:Jennifer.Kennedy@DOS.MyFlorida.com
mailto:Amber.Marconnet@DOS.MyFlorida.com
mailto:Brad.McVay@dos.myflorida.com
mailto:Colleen.OBrien@dos.myflorida.com
mailto:dhurst@iog.fsu.edu
mailto:Ashley.Davis@dos.myflorida.com
mailto:David.Chappell@dos.myflorida.com
mailto:elearning@iog.fsu.edu


certificate of completion.
 
Getting Started

The link below will take you to a log in page, where you can create a user account. Once you
have set up your username and password, you will then be taken to a dashboard displaying
the course. Click the course tile to begin.
 
https://elearning.iog.fsu.edu/enroll/1864620?th__ug=84502989
 
Once you have an individual account, you can still use this link to get to the log in page, but
then you will use “Sign In” in the upper right corner.

 
Final Steps

While access to this program is not limited, at a minimum, you and all canvassing board
members including substitutes and alternates should take this training as soon as possible
for this election cycle.
 
Please retain copies of the certificates of completion for you and the canvassing board as
part of the canvassing board records. Also retain in your records copies of certificates for
anyone your office who may take the training as part of their role in signature
matching/verification process.  
 
Supervisors of Elections are asked to share this email to their canvassing board members,
staff, and others, as appropriate, so they make take the course..
 

Respectfully,
 
Maria Matthews, Esq.
Division of Elections, Director
Florida Department of State
500 S. Bronough Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32399
850.245.6520
Maria.matthews@dos.myflorida.com
 
Important notices: 
This response is provided for reference only and does not constitute legal advice or representation.
As applied to a particular set of facts or circumstances, interested parties should refer to the Florida
Statutes and applicable case law, and/or consult a private attorney before drawing any legal
conclusions or relying upon the information provided.  (Esta respuesta se proporciona solo como
referencia y no constituye consejo ni representación legal. Las personas interesadas deben consultar
los Estatutos de la Florida y la jurisprudencia aplicable, y / o consultar a un abogado privado para
saber como el leye se aplique a sus hechos or circustancias particulares antes de sacar conclusiones
legales o confiar en la información proporcionada.)
 

https://smex-ctp.trendmicro.com/wis/clicktime/v1/query?url=https%3a%2f%2furldefense.proofpoint.com%2fv2%2furl%3fu%3dhttps%2d3A%5f%5felearning.iog.fsu.edu%5fenroll%5f1864620%2d3Fth%2d5F%2d5Fug%2d3D84502989%26d%3dDwMF%2dg%26c%3dJDr0t6f77aOFP4neilo99w%26r%3dzjmkU47vgGdTlWRG3ZSz3lf6C5A7oXUgBcemfVyiD1JmkTR3q0ztbsChM0TuftNV%26m%3dncMhPQbkaVYp36KPafTyYJrOD9FXbbyQh5UR68LWFkHDj8h7UWkYC%2dADVsl11h86%26s%3dMzu9xHFt2PA7Be4s4uLTdxSz%5f1PFcOpVoxZXNL25xPI%26e%3d&umid=396972bd-f309-4147-a747-7d9b21733e62&auth=f044ea832d7b98343a84d4877cf876f006863d4c-851dd2e800127e74b57175d12399c2f36a4fb284


Written communications including email addresses to governmental agencies constitute public
records and are available to the public including media upon request unless the information is
subject to a specific statutory exemption. See e.g., F.S. 668.6076   (Las comunicaciones escritas,
incluso las direcciones de correo electrónico, a agencias de gobierno, constituyen registros públicos
y están disponibles, a pedido, para el público, incluso la prenjsa, a menos que la información esté
sujeta a una exención legal específica. Véase por ejemplo, F.S. 668.6076)
 
 



�����������	�

�����
����	

������������
������
�����

�������������
 !�"#$%&'()*+�#,�-*,'�(%�(

)*./
0

��������1��2�
 !�"#$%&'()*+�3#'4��()*�&

,,#,&5#'0
�������������+�� 6���77�1��&�+������8

9#$%&'()*�.!*"�%!'�:&'�4
;;+�#,�-*,'�(%�()*.�!)�#%�!

:<-*'*��()*
/0

�������������
9#$%&'()*�.!*"�%!'�:&'�4

+�)*�*#5*.��!:<-*'*.��()
*�&,,#.&5#'�0

�������������+� 6���77�1��&�+������8
9#$%&'()*�<)#%'*.�&%.�.!

*"�%!'�:&'�4�'4*�"#$%&'(
)*�!%�,#-*+�#,�-*,'�(%�()*.�

!)�#%�!:<-*'*��()*
/0

�������1��2�
9#$%&'()*�<)#%'*.�.!*"�%

!'�:&'�4+�3#'4��!:<-*'*
.��()*�&,,#.&5#'0

=!'*)�"#$%*.�*%5*-!<*�,!
)�"!:*!%*�*-"*�& %.�2!'4

�5!'*)"�4&.�&�)*>(*"'�!%�
,#-*0

?*)'#,#�&'*�*%5*-!<*�4&"�
'3!�"#$%&'()*"�&%.�2!'4�

5!'*)"�)*>(*"'*.�2&--!'"�
&%.�2!'4�)*�*#5*.�'4*�"&

:*�2&--!'0
�����1���

=!'*)�"*%."�2&--!'�#%�2-&%
@�*%5*-!<*�'4&'�.!*"�%!'

�4&5*�'4*�!&'4�
0

�����18
=!'*.�3)!%$�2&--!'��5!'*

)�4&"�:!5*.A<&)'B��4&%$
*�

0
�������������

=!'*)�.*�*&"*.�&,'*)�2&--
!'�3&"�<!"':&)@*.�!)�5!

'*)�)*:!5*.�&,'*)�2&--!'�
)*'()%*.0

�����7���
C&'*�)*'()%�!,�=DE�2&--!

'��*F�*<'�GH?I=I�5!'*)"
�0

�����6
=!'*.�*&)-B�!)�&'�'4*�<!--

"0
�����������	�


�����
����	���J���KK�L�
M��

������������
������
�����

�������N��&�
?()*�I,,#.&5#'�)*�*#5*.�3

#'4�O#*)���#.*%'#,#�&'#!%
0

�������N��2�
?()*�I,,#.&5#'�)*�*#5*.�3

#'4�O#*)���#.*%'#,#�&'#!%�&%
.�'4*��()*�"#$%&'()*�:&'

�4*"�&�"#$%&'()*�!%�)*�!)
.0

?()*�I,,#.&5#'�)*�*#5*.�3
#'4�O#*)���#.*%'#,#�&'#!%�&%

.�'4*�"#$%&'()*�!%�'4*��(
)*�.!*"�%!'�:&'�4;;�&�"#$

%&'()*�!%� )*�!).
/0

?()*��%!'�)*�*#5*.�<)#!)�'
!�8�PE�!%�'4*��%.�.&B�&,

'*)�'4*�*-*�'#!%
0

�����������	�
Q�J���R�S��
���J��TU���

�V����J�L��
����	�WW�����
��	�
��

������������
������
�����

�����6�N
=!'*)�<)!5#.*"�<)!<*)�#.*

%'#,#�&'#!%�!)�#%.#�&'*"�*F
*:<'#!%0

�����6�N
=!'*)�.!*"�%!'�<)!5#.*�<

)!<*)�#.*%'#,#�&'#!%�!)�#%.
#�&'*�&%�*F*:<'#!%�2B�7�P

E0

X�		���J��VU����Y�
���Y
M����YV����JL�
�����		�

���J���J����U�J�

Z#--"2!)!($4�?!(%'B�?&%5
&""#%$�D!&).�=DE�D&--!'�

�?)#'*)#&�?4&)'+�[(%*�����
��������������\)!:������\9]�?&

%5&""#%$�D!&).�̂!)@"4!<
+�E&)�4�N�+���������

P&$*���!,��



�����������	�

���
�����������������

���������������
���������
�	�����
�


������� ���
!�������!���

"#"$%&'()�"*+($#,#
-.�/.012345�.4�6317

8
"#"$%&'()�"*+($#,#

9317�.:�/.012345�.;�.4�<
7:.47�7=7>1?.;�63@�

8
93176�.;�.4�<7:.47�7=7>1?

.;�63@�<A1�/.01234576�=3
174�.4�;.� /.012345

8
93176�3;6�/.01234576�3

:174�7=7>1?.;�63@�.4�63176
�3:174�7=7>1?.;�63@�B?1C�;

.�/.012345�
8

�����������	�
������D����EF
�G�		��


������� ���
!�������!���

"#"$%&'"
*1317�B4?17+?;�<3==.1�B?==�<

7�>.;0?67476�.;�3�>307�<@
�>307�<30?0

8
�����������	�

������	�F
���
���

������� ���

!�������!���
H.174�0A<2?1176�3�I.176�

032/=7�<3==.1�B?1C�>=734�I
.174�?;17;1)�?;0?67�1C7?4�J

741?:?>317�K;I7=./7�1C31�C
30�3�I3=?6� 0?L;31A478

H.174�>C3;L76�3664700)�0
7;1�1B.�<3==.10M�<.1C�<3==

.10�47>7?I76)�:?401�>.447>1
�<3==.1�3>>7/1768

NOOO�.4�O4?234@P�H.174�>C
3;L76�/.=?1?>3=�3::?=?31?.;

)�07;1�1B.�<3==.10M�<.1C��<
3==.10�47 >7?I76)�:?401�>.447

>1�<3==.1� 3>>7/1768
�����������	�

Q�R���	�D����EF
�
���
��
��G�		��


������� ���
!�������!���

-.1�3�47L?017476�I.174�?;�
1C7�>.A;1@

8
*?L;76�1C7�STUV�3;6�1C7

�0?L;31A47�I74?:?76)�;.�.1C
74�?00A708

-.�63 17�3;6�;.�/.012345
�++�47>7?I76�3:174�7=7>1?.;

�63@
8

93176�.4�/.01234576�.;�
7=7>1?.;�63@�.4�734=?74

8
-.�47W A701�47>7?I76�<A1�

63176�.;�.4�<7:.47�7=7>1?
.;�63@�3;6�.31C�?0�0?L;76

8
JC3==7;L7�.:�.I740730�I.

174�<307 6�.;�;.1�2771?;L
�67:?;?1?.;�.:�&X$#("Y(Z[

8
-.1�47L?017476�<@�6736=?;

78
\�������
�������!���]��O

74�S*�"#"$%̂YZ[�A;1?=�'�O_
�.;�1C7�(;6�63@�3:174�1C7

�7=7>1?.;)�1C7�0A/74I?0.4�
0C3==�3==.B�3;�7=7>1.4�BC

.�C30�471A4;76�3�HV_�<3
==.1�1C31�6.70�;.1�?;>=A67

�
1C7�7=7>1.4̀0�0?L;31A47�.4

�BC.07�0?L;31A47�6.70�;.
1�231>C�1.�0A<2?1�3;�3::?

63I?1�B?1C�3�>./@�.:�?67;
1?:?>31?.;�1.�>A47$

\\G���
R������
��	��R�
���]�O74�S*�"#"$%̂Y([Y>[)�

3�:?;6?;L�<@�1C7�J3;I300?
;L�V.346�1C31�3;�7=7>1.4̀

0�0?L;31A47�6.70�;.1�231
>C�2A01�<7�<@�23a.4?1@�I

.17�3;6�<7@.;6�3�4730.;
3<=7�

6.A<1$ ��������b��
���
��� �����
������������c�U�:76743=�B

4?17+?;�3<07;177�<3==.1�2
3@�;.1�<7�>3;I30076�A;1?

=�X�O_�.;�1C7�63@�.:�1C7�
7=7>1?.;��U�:76743=�B4?17+

?;�3<07;177�<3==.1�:4.2�3
;�

.I740730�I.174�?;�3�/470?6
7;1?3=�/47:747;>7�/4?234@

�.4�L7;743=�7=7>1?.;�23@�
;.1�<7�>3;I30076�A;1?=�1C

7�>.;>=A0?.;�.:�1C7�"#�63
@�/74?.6�0/7>?:?76�?;�0A<0

7>1?.;�Y'[$��K3>C�:76743=�
B4?17+?;�3<07;177�<3 ==.1�4

7>7?I76�<@�X�O_�.;�1C7�6
3@�.:�1C7�7=7>1?.;�0C3==�<7

�>3;I30076�/A40A3;1�1.�"
#"$'%"ZY'[�3;6�"#"$%̂)�A

;=700�1C7�7=7>1.4̀0�.::?>?3
=�3<07;177�<3==.1�?0�

47>7?I76�<@�X�O_�.;�7=7>
1?.;�63@�"#"$%&'(Y([Y3[$�

�U;�3<07;1�A;?:.4276�074
I?>70�I.174�.4�3;�.I74073

0�I.174�BC.�23570�1?27=@
�3//=?>31?.;�:.4�<A1�6.70�

;.1�47>7?I7�3;�.::?>?3=�
3<07;177�<3==.1�23@�A07�

1C7�:76743=�B4?17+?;�3<07;
177�<3==.1�1.�I.17�?;�3;@�:

76743=)�01317�.4�=.>3=�7=7>
1?.;$

d?==0<.4.ALC�J.A;1@�J3;I
300?;L�V.346�HV_�V3==.1�

�J4?174?3�JC341)�eA;7�(#((
��������������S4.2�(#((�S*K�J3

;I300?;L�V.346�T.450C./
)�_34>C�,")�(#((����

O3L7�(�.:�(



�����������	�

��
������	���		���

������������
������������

�������
�� !"�#$�!%#&#'%!(�$#&)* +"

!�,* -.!$(�-�""!- �/"!-#)
- 0

�������
�� !"�#$�!%#&#'%!�'+ �1#1�)

� �.*2!�/"�/!"�34�55�6#&)*
 +"!�,* -.!$� .* ��)�7#%!

0
�������

�� !"�&#2!)� .!�/"�2#$#�)
*%�#)�!""�"�55�$.�+%1�.*2!�

2� !1�*�"!&+%*"�'*%%� 
0

�������
�� !"�*//%#-* #�)�8*$�)�

 �2!"#7#!1�'9� .!�$ * !(�2�
 !"�7+")#$.!1�*11# #�)*%�#

)7�",* #�)�/"#�"� ��:�;<
��7� .!�=)1� 1*9����� !"�1!!,!1�!%#&#'

%!�0
�������

>*%%� �-*$ �#)�8"�)&�/"!-
#)- 0

�������
�� !"�)*,!�)� �7�+)1�55�

)� �"!&#$ !"!1� ��2� !
0

������:
�� !"�,�2!1�#) ��-�+) 9

�55�?%#&#'%!(�$#&)* +"!�,* 
-.!$(�-�""!- �/"!-#)- 

0
�������

�� !"�,�2!1��+ ��7�-�+)
 90

�������
�� !"�8*$�-*)-!%%!1�*$�7!

%�)��"�7�"�� .!"�"!*$�)$
0

�������
�� !"�"!&#$ !"!1�*7 !"� .!

�'��@$�-%�$!1
0

���������
 !"A$�*//%#-* #�)�8*$�)� �

2!"#7#!1�'9� .!�$ * !(�2� !
"�1#1�)� �7+")#$.�*11# #�)

*%�#1!) #7#-* #�)�'9�:�;<�
�7� .!�=)1� 1*9�

0
�������

�� !"$�*//%#-* #�)�8*$�#)
-�,/%! !�$��)� �!%#&#'%!� 

��2� !
0

���������
 !"A$�$#&)* +"!�1#1�)� ��,

* -.BB�*)1�2� !"�1#1�)� 
�$#&)�C6#&)* +"!�4#77!"$C�D

77#1*2# (�'+ �$#&)* +"!��)
�/"�2#$#�)*%� ,* -.!$� .* ��)�7#%!�8# .

�6E?0
�������

�� !"A$�$#&)* +"!�1#1�)� 
��,* -.BB�*)1�2� !"�1#1�)

� �$#&)�C6#&)* +"!�4#77!"$
C�D77#1*2# (�'+ �2� !"�-�,

/%! !$� .!� -+"!�*77#1*2# 0
�������

�� !"A$�$#&)* +"!�1#1�)� 
��,* -.(�2� !"�1#1�)� �$#&

)�C6#&)* +"!�4#77!"$C�D77#1
*2# (�*)1�%!7 �+)-+"!1��"�

#)-�,/%! !
0

�������
�� !"�.*1�'!!)�$!) �*��>

<�'*%%� (�1#1�)� �$+""!)1
!"�# (�'+ ��><�'*%%� �)� �

"!-!#2!1�'9� .!�6E?
0

�������
�� !"A$�"#&. � ��2� !�.*$�

'!!)�-.*%%!)&!1
0

�������
F;;;��"�;"#,*"9G��� !"�.*

$�1#$/+ !1�/*" 9�*77#%#* #�
)H�/"�2#$#�)*%�'*%%� �#$� .!

�8"�)&�/*" 9�*--�"1#)&� �
�6E?� "!$!*"-.

0
�������

�� !"�.*$�*%"!*19�2� !1�'
9�,*#%��"�* �*)�!*"%9�2� !

�-!) !"
0

������I
�� #)&�.�+"$�!J !)1!1�55

�2� !"�#$�!%#&#'%!�*)1�#)� .
!�-�""!- �/"!-#)- 0

������I
�� #)&�.�+"$�!J !)1!1�55

�2� !"�#$�!%#&#'%!�*)1�KEL
�#)� .!�-�""!- �/"!-#)- 

0
K� �"!&#$ !"!1�'9�1!*1%#)

! 0

M�		������NO�����������

�����N�����P��
��
�����

�	���		�������������O���

Q#%%$'�"�+&.�R�+) 9�R*)2
*$$#)&�>�*"1��;"�2#$#�)*%�

>*%%� ��R"# !"#*�R.*" (�S+)!
�=�==�����T"�,�T6?�R*)2*$

$#)&�>�*"1�U�"@$.�/(�<*
"-.�V�(�=�==

;*&!����7�=



���������	�
�������
����
�������������������� �!��"

�#���$��%�&�&'(�')�����$�
�� �*��#�+��$��,�-��.�,#��

,$'  �'  #/�'��� �*�#��/$
#�$',��������&�'�01"�2'

  #���$'��&#�,��#����* �&�
�

�$��� �*�#�3,�,�4�'�����#�
�/$#,��,�4�'�����&#�,��#

��5'�*$��#�,�25���'��'))�
&'.���/��$�'�*#-(�#)��&��

��)�*'��#���#�*����
��6

��7��
8 9��8:;
�7�

�:�����������������%��*�+�
'�)��&��4�2(��$��<'�.',,�

�4�1#'�&��$'��'��� �*�#�3
,�,�4�'�����&#�,��#��5'�

*$�5�,��2��2(�5'=#���(�.
#���'�&�2�(#�&�'���',#�

'2 ��
&#�2�� >?�@8
�AB�
�9	���C����D


�9
89�E��
�9F�G�)�&��' �/
����H���'2,������2'  #��5

'(��#��2��*'�.',,�&�����
 �I��"�#���$��&'(�#)��$��

� �*��#���G�)�&��' �/����H
���'2,������2'  #��)�#5�'

��
#.��,�',�.#�������'�-��,�&

����' �-��)����*��-��5'�(
�#��4����' �� �*��#��5'(�

�#��2��*'�.',,�&����� ��$
��*#�* �,�#��#)��$�����&'

(�-���#&�,-�*�)��&����,�2,
�*��#���!����J'*$�)�&��' �

/����H���'2,������2'  #���
�*��.�&�2(�I��"�#���$��&

'(�#)��$��� �*��#��,$'  �2�
�*'�.',,�&�-��,�'����#��

���!����!��'�&�������+��
� �,,��$��� �*�#�3,�#))�*�'

 �'2,������2'  #���,�
��*��.�&�2(�I��"�#��� �*

��#��&'(������K!%�%��'���
�G��'2,�������)#�5�&�,��

.�*�,�.#����#��'��#.��,�'
,�.#����/$#�5'L�,���5� (

�'-- �*'��#��)#��2���&#�,�
�#����*��.��'��#))�*�' �

'2,������2'  #��5'(��,��
�$��)�&��' �/����H���'2,��

����2'  #���#�.#������'�(�)
�&��' +�,�'���#�� #*' �� �*

��#��

M�  ,2#�#�4$�<#���(�<'�.
',,��4�1#'�&����#.�,�#�' �

1'  #���<������'�<$'��+�N���
�%�%%�������#5���J�<'�.',

,��4�1#'�&�O#�L,$#-+�"'
�*$�P�+�%�%%

�'4��%�#)�%



    Florida Department of State  Page 1 of 2 

 

  

Voter Challenges  
DE Reference Guidelines 0009 (Updated 03/2020) 
These guidelines are for reference only. They are not to be construed as legal advice or representation. For any particular set of facts or 
circumstances, refer to the applicable state, federal law, and case law, and/or consult a private attorney before drawing any legal 
conclusions or relying upon this information. 

 
In the event of a voter challenge, the law (Section 101.111, Florida Statutes) should be applied as follows:  

 

CHALLENGER   

 The challenger can only challenge a voter in the challenger’s own county. 

 The challenger must sign a statutory oath. 

 Each challenge must be separately completed. 

 A challenger commits a 1st degree misdemeanor if challenge is frivolous.  

 A challenge provided in advance to the Supervisor of Elections or made at the polls is to be given to the 
election board of the challenged voter’s precinct.  

 
CHALLENGES CAN BE FILED IN ADVANCE 

 A challenge can be filed up to 30-days in advance. 

 A challenge is election specific, i.e., it can only apply to the election in which it is filed. 
 
CHALLENGED VOTER 

 Voter must be provided a copy of the challenge before voting. 

 Voter can only vote a provisional ballot with a few exceptions:  

o If a challenge is based on the voter’s residential address, the challenged voter may still be able to vote a 
regular ballot if the: (1) voter is only making an in-county address change, (2) the precinct to which the 

voter has moved his or her legal residence is within a county that uses an electronic database as a 

precinct register at the polling place, or (3) the voter is an active uniformed services member or family 
member. The voter must first execute an address change affidavit.  

o If the challenge is based on the voter’s signature, the challenged voter must first execute a signature 
affidavit before voting a regular ballot.  

 Voter voting provisionally must be given written instructions and notice of rights including opportunity to 
provide proof of eligibility until 5 pm. local time two days after Election Day. (section 101.048, Fla. Stat.)  

 
Counting Provisional  

 The statutory presumption is for the canvassing board to count a provisional ballot UNLESS a 
preponderance of the evidence shows that the person is otherwise not entitled to vote (i.e., not 
registered, not eligible (felon, adjudicated mentally incompetent, etc.), voted in the wrong precinct, 
already voted, or evidence of fraud, signature does not match even after opportunity to cure).  

 The decision is based on review of the challenged person’s provisional ballot certificate and affirmation, 
the challenger’s written oath, and any other evidence provided either by the challenged person, the 
challenger and/or the supervisor of elections.  

 



    Florida Department of State  Page 2 of 2 

 

THE VOTER CHALLENGE LAW DOES NOT ADDRESS CHALLENGES TO VOTE-BY-MAIL BALLOT VOTERS. 

 Any attempt to apply a challenge filed under Section 101.111, Florida Statutes, to vote-by-mail ballot 
voters should ensure that the voters are accorded the same due process as challenged voters at the polls 
whether election day or during early voting  (i.e., timely notice of the challenge, copy of the written 
challenge, and written of right to present additional evidence to the supervisor).  

 Section 101.68(1) and (2), Florida Statutes, allows an elector or candidate present at a canvassing meeting 
to file a protest or challenge with the canvassing board about a vote-by-mail ballot. The challenge must be 
based on a defect of the vote-by-mail ballot certificate and must occur before the vote-by-mail ballot has 
been removed from the envelope. 

 
THE VOTER CHALLENGE PROCESS SHOULD NOT INTERFERE WITH THE VOTING PROCESS FOR OTHER VOTERS AND THE ORDERLY 

OPERATION OF THE POLLING PLACE. 
 



� � ��

���������	�
���
���������������

������	������	��������������������		��������������������������������
�������		���������� ��!	��"��#��$��%&������� � ���'����&��
�&�

()*+,-*.,/�012�344,56*.7�12�8,9,46*.7�:*7.;6)2,�<)2,�300*+;=*6�012�>*//*.7�12�>*/?;64@,+�:*7.;6)2,�1.�;�A21=*/*1.;-�B;--16�12�CB>�B;--16�<,26*0*4;6,�DE:�FGFHIJKLM�;.+�E:�FGFHGLJN��O�
P���	���Q�������������
�����������	�	�����	�"��$��$������
���	����������	���		����
��������$����
�$�����������	����������������$����
�$�������	��������$������	������������������$���R��S��	��""���	����"����	������������	�����T�#�������	R��O�����������	�������U�'#�����������������
�������$�����V������	����������������������
�W�������"��	�����	���������$�����

������R��S�����������	��	������V
XV���&��
�����"����	����������������V
XV��&%Y�
�����T�#����������ZV���$�"���
[�\���]*,2�F�̂+,.6*0*4;6*1.�_̀ab�cdec�fg�hijjklc�elm�neofm�pfcd�nqckjrg�lesk�elm�tdqcq�u������������������$��	����v�wV�$�����		�����������V�"���������
�����x���
�
��������#�����T���$��	y�z������
����	�"�		"���y����������$������$���y����������wVy�	�������wVy������������$���������������������		�$����������"����$��		�	���$��wVy����������������wV�$�����		�����������zR
R�V�"���������
�T������	��

���	y�����������$��	�����$�������$��$������x��"������
������y������"������wV�$�����		���������������$�����"�������������$�������������
�����
������������������������	��������$���������������$�"�����R��P��{������
����������	����������S����&�wV|�\���]*,2�}�̂+,.6*0*4;6*1.�cdec�gdqpg�cdk�nqckjrg�lesk�elm�hijjklc�jkgfmklhk�emmjkgg~�hijjklc�icfofc���foo���el��	��������y������������$��$!y�"��$��$!y�����������������$������{�W$�����������������
���������$���|R���O��dk��elneggfl���qejmrg����������������	��������������������$����
�$�����������$�����

����������	��������$����	���������������������������������������	������������R�� <;.=;//*.7�B1;2+��,6,2?*.;6*1.�1.�:*7.;6)2,�<)2,�300*+;=*6� 344,56�8,9,46�T�����"��������S����&����S������wV��������	���������$�����

������� � ��T�����"��������S����&�����S������wV����������	������$�����

������� � ��T�����"��������	������$�����

��������������S����&����S������wV� � ��T�����"��������	������$�����

��������������$$�"������wV� � ��T�����"��������	������$�����

��������������������	��������	�����

��������������������$��������������$�������������"��������$�����������������S����&�wV� �� �T�����"��������	������$�����

�����������S������wV�����	��������	�����

��������������������$��������������$�� � ��T�����"��������	������$�����

�����������S����&����S������wV�����	��������	�����

��������������������$�������$�� �� ��



�

�

����������	�
�������
�������	������
���
����
	����	��������������������������������������� ��!�"#�#�"�$%���%�&&�%!��$$!''!#�%��()*+�$����(�$%�!��!&�*�++!%����#�$�"%�&�$�%������(�"�%����*!����%�%)%�,���#�(�"� "�(����-���*�+!.��/0�12345�6789:;�<=9>=�?7@A9>�9:5?4>39B:�BC�@2AAB35�2:6�>4839C9>2345�D2E�B>>78�<9AA�@4�>B:329:46�9:�2�A4;2A�:B39>4�?7@A95=46�9:�2�:4<5?2?48�BC�;4:482A�>98>7A239B:0��F=95�:B39>4�<9AA�2A5B�@4�2G29A2@A4�B:�3=4�H7?48G95B8�BC�IA4>39B:5�<4@59340�J0�K=4:�2889G9:;�3B�B@548G4L�3=4�D4D@48�BC�3=4�?7@A9>�<9AA�>=4>M�9:�23�3=4�C8B:3�645M�BC�3=4�IHN�@E�OPQQ�RS�2:6�<9AA�84>49G4�2�:2D4�32;�<=9>=�D753�@4�<B8:�23�2AA�39D450��F=4�B@548G48�<9AA�@4�45>B8346�3B�3=4�9:5?4>39B:�28420��T0�UB348�>4839C9>2345�B:�D29A9:;�4:G4AB?45�?8B>45546�3=4�?84G9B75�62E�<9AA�@4�2G29A2@A4�CB8�9:5?4>39B:0��V0�W2AAB35�?8B>45546�3=4�?84G9B75�62E�<9AA�@4�2G29A2@A4�CB8�9:5?4>39B:0��X0�Y54�BC�?485B:2A�>BD?73485�2:6�64G9>45L�9:>A769:;�>4AA�?=B:45L�95�?8B=9@9346�9:�3=4�84G94<Z9:5?4>39B:�8BBD0��[0�I239:;�B8�689:M9:;�95�?8B=9@9346�9:�3=4�84G94<Z9:5?4>39B:�8BBD0�\0�R3�:B�39D4�>2:�3=4�B@548G48�3B7>=�2:E�@2AAB35�B8�D234892A50��O0�]B�84>B869:;5�B8�?=B3B5�284�2AAB<460�0̂�]B�@2;5�B8�@894C>2545�284�?48D93346�9:�3=4�84G94<Z9:5?4>39B:�8BBD0�/Q0�F=4�54559B:�<9AA�4:6�?8BD?3AE�23�OPTQ�RS0��

F=4�BCC9>92A�@2AAB35�2:6�@2AAB3�>2865�84>49G46�C8BD�4A4>39B:�@B2865�2:6�84DBG46�C8BD�GB34_@E_D29A�@2AAB3�D29A9:;�4:G4AB?45�2:6�GB348�>4839C9>2345�B:�57>=�D29A9:;�4:G4AB?45�5=2AA�@4�B?4:�CB8�?7@A9>�9:5?4>39B:�B8�4̀2D9:239B:�<=9A4�9:�3=4�>753B6E�BC�3=4�57?48G95B8�BC�4A4>39B:5�B8�3=4�>B7:3E�>2:G2559:;�@B286�23�2:E�8425B:2@A4�39D4L�7:648�8425B:2@A4�>B:6939B:5a�=B<4G48L�:B�?485B:5�B3=48�3=2:�3=4�57?48G95B8�BC�4A4>39B:5�B8�=95�B8�=48�4D?ABE445�B8�3=4�>B7:3E�>2:G2559:;�@B286�5=2AA�=2:6A4�2:E�BCC9>92A�@2AAB3�B8�@2AAB3�>2860�bC�3=4�@2AAB35�284�@49:;�4̀2D9:46�?89B8�3B�3=4�4:6�BC�3=4�>B:3453�?489B6�9:�50/QJ0/[OL�3=4�57?48G95B8�BC�4A4>39B:5�5=2AA�D2M4�2�8425B:2@A4�4CCB83�3B�:B39CE�2AA�>2:6962345�<=B54�:2D45�2??428�B:�57>=�@2AAB35�B8�@2AAB3�>2865�@E�34A4?=B:4�B8�B3=48<954�BC�3=4�39D4�2:6�?A2>4�BC�3=4�9:5?4>39B:�B8�4̀2D9:239B:0�RAA�57>=�>2:6962345L�B8�3=498�84?8454:3239G45L�5=2AA�@4�2AAB<46�3B�@4�?8454:3�6789:;�3=4�9:5?4>39B:�B8�4̀2D9:239B:0�



�

�

������������	
��������
�����������������	���������������
��	��	�
��	��������������������������� ��!"#!$$%"&��'!()�)%( *+$�$+!,,�+'�!**'--')!+ �( #% .�'(�%"$/ *+%'"�',�* (+!%"�-!+ (%!0$�12�!3+�'(%4 )�/ ($'"$�!$�/ (�+� �!1'# �$+!+3+ 5�!")�/!(!&(!/�$��67�1 0'.��89�:;<=>�;?@�<AB=>�@CDA?E�FGAHG�D=IA=F�JD�A?>K=H<AJ?�JL�H=D<;A?�B;<=DA;M>�NO�;C<GJDAP=@�K=D>J?�B;O�JHHCD�FAMM�N=�HJ?<;A?=@�A?�;�M=E;M�?J<AH=�KCNMA>G=@�A?�;�?=F>K;K=D�JL�E=?=D;M�HADHCM;<AJ?9��QGA>�?J<AH=�FAMM�;M>J�N=�;I;AM;NM=�J?�<G=�RCK=DIA>JD�JL�SM=H<AJ?>�F=N>A<=9�T9�S;HG�H;?@A@;<=U�KJMA<AH;M�K;D<O�JLLAHA;MU�KJMA<AH;M�HJBBA<<==�JLLAHA;MU�JD�;C<GJDAP=@�@=>AE?==�<G=D=JL�>==VA?E�<J�D=IA=F�JD�A?>K=H<�H=D<;A?�B;<=DA;M>�>G;MM�HJBKM=<=�;?�J?WMA?=�LJDB�D=XC=><A?E�;HH=>>�;?@�>CNBA<�<G=�LJDB�<J�<G=�RCK=DIA>JD�JL�SM=H<AJ?>�YLLAH=�<GDJCEG�<G=�RCK=DIA>JD�JL�SM=H<AJ?>�F=N>A<=9�ZKKJA?<B=?<>�;D=�MABA<=@�;?@�FAMM�N=�;>>AE?=@�J?�;�LAD><WHJB=U�LAD><W>=DI=@�N;>A>9��[9�\G=?�;DDAIA?E�<J�JN>=DI=U�<G=�@=>AE?==�FAMM�HG=HV�A?�;<�<G=�LDJ?<�@=>V�JL�<G=�SR]�;?@�FAMM�D=H=AI=�;�?;B=�<;E�FGAHG�BC><�N=�FJD?�;<�;MM�<AB=>9���9̂�Z�><;LL�B=BN=D�FAMM�=>HJD<�<G=�@=>AE?==�<J�<G=�D=IA=F_A?>K=H<AJ?�;D=;9��Z�><;LL�B=BN=D�FAMM�KD=>=?<�<G=�@=>AE?==�<G=�B;<=DA;M>�D=XC=><=@�LJD�D=IA=F�JD�A?>K=H<AJ?9��9̀�a>=�JL�K=D>J?;M�HJBKC<=D>�;?@�@=IAH=>U�A?HMC@A?E�H=MM�KGJ?=>U�A>�KDJGANA<=@�A?�<G=�D=IA=F_A?>K=H<AJ?�DJJB9��b9�cJ�N;E>�JD�NDA=LH;>=>�;D=�K=DBA<<=@�A?�<G=�D=IA=F_A?>K=H<AJ?�DJJB9�d9�S;<A?E�JD�@DA?VA?E�A>�KDJGANA<=@�A?�<G=�D=IA=F_A?>K=H<AJ?�DJJB9�e9�Z<�?J�<AB=�H;?�<G=�JN>=DI=D�<JCHG�;?O�N;MMJ<>�JD�B;<=DA;M>9��f9�QG=�;KKJA?<B=?<�FAMM�=?@�KDJBK<MO�;<�eĝ̀�Zh9���

Z�H;?@A@;<=U�;�KJMA<AH;M�K;D<O�JLLAHA;MU�JD�;�KJMA<AH;M�HJBBA<<==�JLLAHA;MU�JD�;?�;C<GJDAP=@�@=>AE?==�<G=D=JLU�>G;MM�N=�ED;?<=@�D=;>J?;NM=�;HH=>>�CKJ?�D=XC=><�<J�D=IA=F�JD�A?>K=H<�N;MMJ<�B;<=DA;M>�N=LJD=�H;?I;>>A?E�JD�<;NCM;<AJ?U�A?HMC@A?E�IJ<=D�H=D<ALAH;<=>�J?�IJ<=WNOWB;AM�=?I=MJK=>U�HCD=�;LLA@;IA<>U�HJDD=>KJ?@A?E�HJBK;DA>J?�>AE?;<CD=>U�@CKMAH;<=�N;MMJ<>U�;?@�HJDD=>KJ?@A?E�JDAEA?;M>9�i=LJD=�<G=�>CK=DIA>JD�N=EA?>�HJBK;DA?E�>AE?;<CD=>�J?�IJ<=WNOWB;AM�IJ<=D�H=D<ALAH;<=>U�<G=�>CK=DIA>JD�BC><�KCNMA>G�?J<AH=�JL�<G=�;HH=>>�<J�N=�KDJIA@=@�C?@=D�<GA>�>=H<AJ?U�FGAHG�B;O�N=�;HH=>>�<J�<G=�@JHCB=?<>�JD�AB;E=>�<G=D=JLU�;?@�<G=�B=<GJ@�JL�D=XC=><A?E�>CHG�;HH=>>9�:CDA?E�>CHG�D=IA=FU�?J�K=D>J?�ED;?<=@�;HH=>>�LJD�D=IA=F�B;O�B;V=�;?O�HJKO�JL�;�>AE?;<CD=9��



�

�

��������	
������	��
��	
����
��
��	�	������������������	������������ ��!�"#�#�"�$%���%�&&�%!��$$!''!#�%��!(��"��%�!��!&�%�()*�%�!�����+�"�%����(!����%�%)%�,���#�+�"� "�+����-.�(�*!/��01�23456�378�49:56�8;<97=�>?9@?�43A;B349C7�378�456497=�:3D�C@@;<�>9BB�A5�@C7439758�97�3�B5=3B�7C49@5�E;AB96?58�97�3�75>6E3E5<�CF�=575<3B�@9<@;B349C71��G?96�7C49@5�>9BB�3B6C�A5�3H39B3AB5�C7�4?5�>5A69451�I1�G?5�J;E5<H96C<�CF�KB5@49C76�LFF9@5�<565<H56�4?5�<9=?4�4C�7C4�43A;B345�8;<97=�4?5�3;4?C<9M58�49:56N�A3658�C7�3=57@D�755861���O1�K3@?�E3<4D�@?CC697=�4C�8569=7345�3�<5E<56574349H5�FC<�CA65<H349C7�CF�43A;B349C7�6?3BB�6;A:94�4?5�73:5�4C�4?5�J;E5<H96C<�CF�KB5@49C76�LFF9@51�L75�E5<6C7�E5<�E3<4D�>9BB�A5�3BBC>58�97�4?5�43A;B349C7�<CC:�34�3�49:51�P1�Q?57�3<<9H97=�4C�CA65<H5N�4?5�8569=755�:;64�@?5@R�97�34�4?5�F<C74�856R�CF�4?5�KJS�378�>9BB�<5@59H5�3�73:5�43=�>?9@?�:;64�A5�>C<7�34�3BB�49:561�T1�G?5�CA65<H5<�6?3BB�A5�<564<9@458�4C�3�6;943AB5�3<53�>94?97�4?5�43A;B349C7�<CC:�F<C:�>?9@?�?5�C<�6?5�@37�?53<�378�655�4?5�43A;B349C7�64349C761�U1�V65�CF�E5<6C73B�@C:E;45<6�378�85H9@56N�97@B;897=�@5BB�E?C756N�96�E<C?9A9458�97�4?5�43A;B349C7�<CC:1��W1�K3497=�C<�8<97R97=�96�E<C?9A9458�97�4?5�43A;B349C7�<CC:1�X1�Y4�7C�49:5�@37�4?5�CA65<H5<�4C;@?�37D�A3BBC46�C<�:345<93B6N�C<�C4?5<>965�9745<F5<5�>94?�4?5�3@49H94956�;785<>3D�97�4?5�43A;B349C7�<CC:1�G?96�97@B;856�89<5@4BD�@C::;79@3497=�>94?�643FF�E5<FC<:97=�43A;B349C71�����

K3@?�ECB949@3B�E3<4D�:3D�8569=7345�C75�E5<6C7�>94?�5ZE5<4965�97�4?5�@C:E;45<�F95B8�>?C�6?3BB�A5�3BBC>58�97�4?5�@574<3B�@C;7497=�<CC:�>?57�3BB�45646�3<5�A597=�@C78;@458�378�>?57�4?5�CFF9@93B�HC456�3<5�A597=�@C;74581�G?5�8569=755�6?3BB�7C4�9745<F5<5�>94?�4?5�7C<:3B�CE5<349C7�CF�4?5�@37H36697=�AC3<81�



�

�

��������	
������
���
��	
�����������	�	�������������������������	���������� �!��"�#$�$ #�%&���&�''�&"��%%"(("$�&��")��#��& "��"'�$*+, %�& "�����+�#�&����)"����&�&*&�-���$�+�#�!#�+����.���)�,"/��01�23456�378�49:56�8;<97=�>?9@?�8;AB9@349C7�96�3;4?C<9D58�4C�C@@;<�>9BB�E5�@C7439758�97�3�B5=3B�7C49@5�A;EB96?58�97�3�75>6A3A5<�CF�=575<3B�@9<@;B349C71��G?96�7C49@5�>9BB�3B6C�E5�3H39B3EB5�C7�4?5�>5E69451�I1�G?5�J;A5<H96C<�CF�KB5@49C76�CFF9@5�<565<H56�4?5�<9=?4�4C�7C4�8;AB9@345�8;<97=�4?5�3;4?C<9D58�49:56L�E3658�C7�3=57@M�755861���N1�K3@?�@37898345L�ACB949@3B�A3<4M�CFF9@93BL�ACB949@3B�@C::94455�CFF9@93BL�C<�3;4?C<9D58�8569=755�4?5<5CF�655O97=�4C�CE65<H5�8;AB9@349C7�6?3BB�6;E:94�4?5�73:5�CF�4?5�8569=73458�CE65<H5<�4C�4?5�J;A5<H96C<�CF�KB5@49C76�CFF9@51�P75�A5<6C7�A5<�@37898345L�ACB949@3B�A3<4ML�C<�ACB949@3B�@C::94455�>9BB�E5�3BBC>58�97�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�<CC:�34�3�49:51�Q1�R?57�3<<9H97=�4C�CE65<H5L�4?5�8569=755�:;64�@?5@O�97�34�4?5�F<C74�856O�CF�4?5�KJS�378�>9BB�<5@59H5�3�73:5�43=�>?9@?�:;64�E5�>C<7�34�3BB�49:561�T1�G?5�CE65<H5<�:;64�69=7�37�3FF983H94�3FF9<:97=�3@O7C>B58=:574�4?34�896@BC6;<5�CF�5B5@49C7�<56;B46�896@5<758�F<C:�CE65<H97=�4?5�E3BBC4�8;AB9@349C7�A<C@566�>?9B5�4?5�5B5@49C7�96�C7=C97=�96�3�F5BC7M1�UVV�W�0X01TY0QZQ[Z3[L�\B31�J4341�Y1�PE65<H5<6�6?3BB�E5�<564<9@458�4C�3�6;943EB5�3<53�>94?97�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�<CC:�F<C:�>?9@?�4?5M�@37�?53<�378�655�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�64349C761�]1� 6̂5�CF�A5<6C73B�@C:A;45<6�378�85H9@56L�97@B;897=�@5BB�A?C756L�96�A<C?9E9458�97�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�<CC:1��_1�K3497=�C<�8<97O97=�96�A<C?9E9458�97�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�<CC:1�1̀�aC�E3=6�C<�E<95F@3656�3<5�A5<:94458�97�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�<CC:1�0X1�b4�7C�49:5�@37�4?5�CE65<H5<�4C;@?�37M�E3BBC46�C<�:345<93B6L�C<�C4?5<>965�9745<F5<5�>94?�4?5�3@49H94956�;785<>3M�97�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�<CC:1�G?96�97@B;856�89<5@4BM�@C::;79@3497=�>94?�643FF�A5<FC<:97=�8;AB9@349C71��001�cF�37�CE65<H5<�>96?56�4C�:3O5�3�<536C73EB5�CEd5@49C7�4C�3�8;AB9@345�CF�3�E3BBC4L�?5�C<�6?5�>9BB�6C�9789@345�EM�<39697=�?96�C<�?5<�?378L�34�>?9@?�49:5�3�643FF�:5:E5<�>9BB�A<CH985�4?5�CE65<H5<�3�FC<:�4C�@C:AB545�378�69=7�643497=�4?5�E3696�FC<�4?5�CEd5@49C71��J43FF�>9BB�65@;<5�4?5�@C:AB3974L�4?5�C<9=973B�E3BBC4�378�4?5�8;AB9@345�E3BBC4�FC<�A<56574349C7�4C�4?5�S37H36697=�eC3<81��

ÂC7�<5f;564L�3�A?M69@3BBM�A<56574�@37898345L�3�ACB949@3B�A3<4M�CFF9@93BL�3�ACB949@3B�@C::94455�CFF9@93BL�C<�37�3;4?C<9D58�8569=755�4?5<5CFL�:;64�E5�3BBC>58�4C�CE65<H5�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�CF�E3BBC461�G?5�CE65<H5<�:;64�E5�3BBC>58�4C�CE65<H5�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�CF�E3BBC46�97�6;@?�3�>3M�4?34�4?5�CE65<H5<�96�3EB5�4C�655�4?5�:3<O97=6�C7�53@?�E3BBC4�378�4?5�8;AB9@349C7�43O97=�AB3@51��cF�37M�CE65<H5<�:3O56�3�<536C73EB5�CEd5@49C7�4C�3�8;AB9@345�CF�3�E3BBC4L�4?5�E3BBC4�:;64�E5�A<5657458�4C�4?5�@37H36697=�EC3<8�FC<�3�8545<:97349C7�CF�4?5�H3B9894M�CF�4?5�8;AB9@3451�



�

�

��������	
��������
�����
����������	�	���������
������������
�������������������������������	����� !�""# $��%�&'�'#&�()"�")�**�)%��((%++%'�)��%,"�&!�)#% �%*���
�%-� # $��"�-�&�)����,%!���� !�""# $��%�&'�-%.#(/0�� '�-�&�$&�-�"��12�,�.%3��45�6789:�7;<�8=>9:�<?@=;A�BC=DC�EFG�HI9;=;A�>7J�HDD?@�B=KK�L9�DH;87=;9<�=;�7�K9A7K�;H8=D9�I?LK=:C9<�=;�7�;9B:I7I9@�HM�A9;9@7K�D=@D?K78=H;5��NC=:�;H8=D9�B=KK�7K:H�L9�7O7=K7LK9�H;�8C9�B9L:=895�P5�NC9�Q?I9@O=:H@�HM�RK9D8=H;:�HMM=D9�@9:9@O9:�8C9�@=AC8�8H�;H8�HI9;�EFG�L7KKH8:�<?@=;A�8C9�7?8CH@=S9<�8=>9:T�L7:9<�H;�7A9;DJ�;99<:5���U5�R7DC�I7@8J�DCHH:=;A�8H�<9:=A;789�7�@9I@9:9;878=O9�MH@�HL:9@O78=H;�HM�EFG�HI9;=;A�:C7KK�:?L>=8�8C9�;7>9�8H�8C9�Q?I9@O=:H@�HM�RK9D8=H;:�HMM=D95�V;9�I9@:H;�I9@�I7@8J�B=KK�L9�7KKHB9<�=;�8C9�HI9;=;A�@HH>�78�7�8=>95�W5�XC9;�7@@=O=;A�8H�HL:9@O9T�8C9�<9:=A;99�>?:8�DC9DY�=;�78�8C9�M@H;8�<9:Y�HM�8C9�RQZ�7;<�B=KK�@9D9=O9�7�;7>9�87A�BC=DC�>?:8�L9�BH@;�78�7KK�8=>9:5�[5�NC9�HL:9@O9@�:C7KK�L9�@9:8@=D89<�8H�7�:?=87LK9�7@97�B=8C=;�8C9�EFG�HI9;=;A�@HH>�M@H>�BC=DC�C9�H@�:C9�D7;�C97@�7;<�:99�8C9�HI9;=;A�:878=H;:5�\5�]:9�HM�I9@:H;7K�DH>I?89@:�7;<�<9O=D9:T�=;DK?<=;A�D9KK�ICH;9:T�=:�I@HC=L=89<�=;�8C9�HI9;=;A�@HH>5��5̂�R78=;A�H@�<@=;Y=;A�=:�I@HC=L=89<�=;�8C9�HI9;=;A�@HH>5�_5� H̀�L7A:�H@�L@=9MD7:9:�7@9�I9@>=889<�=;�8C9�HI9;=;A�@HH>5�a5�b8�;H�8=>9�D7;�8C9�HL:9@O9@�8H?DC�7;J�L7KKH8:�H@�>789@=7K:T�H@�H8C9@B=:9�=;89@M9@9�B=8C�8C9�7D8=O=8=9:�?;<9@B7J�=;�8C9�EFG�HI9;=;A�@HH>5�NC=:�=;DK?<9:�<=@9D8KJ�DH>>?;=D78=;A�B=8C�:87MM�I9@MH@>=;A�EFG�HI9;=;A5�����

R7DC�IHK=8=D7K�I7@8J�>7J�<9:=A;789�H;9�I9@:H;�BCH�:C7KK�L9�7KKHB9<�=;�8C9�EH89�FJ�G7=K�HI9;=;A�@HH>�BC9;�EFG�L7KKH8:�7@9�L9=;A�HI9;9<�7;<�L7KKH8:�I@HD9::9<�MH@�87L?K78=H;5��



�

�

�����������	
��
���
�����������
�����	
������
�������������������������������� �!!"�#��$�%&�&"%�'(!�!(�))�($��''$**$&�(��)"+"�#���,%$(�!(�($�������-�++$(��!�,�%�(����-$ ��!(�(.(�/���&�,�%�#%�,�!��0��-�+$1��23�456�7879:;<�;<�9=5>?>=:7�@=6�A<;:7B:�=C=?5B:�:D7�9=5E=BB�;F�=�G=88;:�:D=:�:D7�7879:;<�;<�HIJKLKIMN�ONPLNQNR�LR�LPPNSIP�KTN�MU�I�KNVNHM�IWWIXNJM�UJ�MYN�QUMNZR�HNXMLVLHIMN�UX�HTXN�IVVLKIQLM[�\3�]D7�A<;:7B:�@̂ B:�G7�F?87>�G7F;<7�:D7�G=88;:�?B�<7@;E7>�F<;@�:D7�75E78;A73�_3�`̂<?5C�:D7�<7E?7a�;<�?5BA79:?;5�A7<?;>b�:D7�A7<B;5�@=c?5C�:D7�;Gd79:?;5�a?88�?5>?9=:7�:;�B:=FF�:D7�E;:7<�97<:?F?9=:7�;<�9̂<7�=FF?>=E?:�=C=?5B:�aD?9D�:D7�;Gd79:?;5�?B�:;�G7�@=>7�=5>�a?88�:D75�9;@A87:7�=�F;<@�:;�8;>C7�:D7�A<;:7B:3��]D7�9D=8875C7�@̂ B:�G7�BA79?F?9�=B�:;�:D7�G=88;:�G7?5C�9D=8875C7>b�:D7�A<79?59:b�=5>�:D7�<7=B;5�F;<�B̂9D�9D=8875C73��e3�f:=FF�a?88�B79̂<7�:D7�E;:7<�97<:?F?9=:7�;<�9̂<7�=FF?>=E?:�=C=?5B:�aD?9D�:D7�;Gd79:?;5�D=B�G775�@=>7b�=5>�:D7�9;@A87:7>�=5>�B?C57>�A<;:7B:�F;<@�F;<�A<7B75:=:?;5�:;�:D7�g=5E=BB?5C�h;=<>3����
iF�=56�7879:;<�;<�9=5>?>=:7�A<7B75:�G78?7E7B�:D=:�=�E;:7jG6j@=?8�G=88;:�?B�?887C=8�>̂7�:;�=�>7F79:�=AA=<75:�;5�:D7�QUMNXZR�HNXMLVLHIMN�UX�MYN�HTXN�IVVLKIQLMk�YN�UX�RYN�lImk�IM�IJm�MLlN�ONVUXN�MYN�OIPPUM�LR�XNlUQNK�VXUl�MYN�75E78;A7b�F?87�a?:D�:D7�9=5E=BB?5C�G;=<>�=�A<;:7B:�=C=?5B:�:D7�9=5E=BB�;F�:D=:�G=88;:b�BA79?F6?5C�:D7�A<79?59:b�MYN�QUMNXZR�HNXMLVLHIMN�UX�MYN�HTXN�IVVLKIQLMk�IJK�MYN�XNIRUJ�YN�UX�RYN�ONPLNQNR�MYN�OIPPUM�MU�ON�LPPNSIP[�n�9D=8875C7�G=B7>�̂A;5�=�>7F79:�?5�:DN�QUMNXZR�HNXMLVLHIMN�UX�HTXN�IVVLKIQLM�lIm�JUM�ON�IHHNWMNK�IVMNX�MYN�OIPPUM�D=B�G775�<7@;E7>�F<;@�:D7�@=?8?5C�75E78;A73�



1S-2.027 Standards for Determining Voter’s Choice on a Ballot. 

(1) Application. The standards in this rule apply to determine whether the voter has clearly indicated a definite choice for 

purposes of counting a vote cast on a ballot in a manual recount as provided specifically by section 102.166, F.S. 

(2) Direct recording electronic voting system. 

(a) A vote cast on this voting system is valid for a particular candidate, issue choice, or judicial retention choice when the voter 

marks the ballot electronically as specified in the ballot instructions. 

(b) A vote cast on this voting system is valid for a particular write-in candidate when the voter types on the touch screen the 

name of a write-in candidate in accordance with the ballot instructions. 

(3) Optical scan voting system. 

(a) A vote cast on this voting system is valid for a particular candidate, issue choice, or judicial retention choice when the voter 

marks the ballot as specified in the ballot instructions. 

(b) A vote cast on this voting system is valid for a particular write-in candidate when the voter writes in the name of a candidate 

in the designated write-in space and fills in the oval or arrow next to the write-in candidate’s name. 

(4) Manual review and tabulation. 

(a) The standards under this subsection apply in all instances where a contest is not marked as specified in the ballot instructions 

under subsection (2) or (3), and a manual review of the voter’s markings on a ballot is required to determine whether there is a clear 

indication that the voter has made a definite choice in a contest. 

(b) The canvassing board must first look at the entire ballot for consistency. Then the provisions of paragraph (c) apply to 

determine whether the voter has made a definite choice in a contest, provided the voter has not marked any other contest on the 

ballot, or if the voter has marked other contests, he or she has marked them in the same manner, subject to the exceptions in 

subparagraphs 7., 10., and 15. The following are examples of valid votes after review for consistency: 



 

Ballot Situation 1: Recount in race of State Representative. The two 

ovals in the first two races are filled in properly, but the voter has 

circled the candidate’s name in the state representative race. Since 

the voter did not mark the state representative race in the same 

manner as in the other races, it cannot be determined whether the 

voter has clearly indicated a definite choice for Don Nichols. 

 

 

 



 

Ballot Situation 2: Recount in race of State Representative. All 

races on this ballot are marked in the same manner. Since the 

ballot is consistently marked as in paragraph (c), the vote cast for 

Michael Ross in the state representative race is a valid vote. 

 



 

Ballot Situation 3: Recount in State Representative race. Each race is 

marked differently so that no consistency in marking exists. It cannot be 

determined which marking, if any, is clearly indicative of the voter’s 

choice. Therefore, the vote cast for Bernie West is not valid. 

 



(c) Subject to the provisions of paragraph (4)(b), the following marks constitute a valid vote as indicated for a particular 

candidate, issue choice, or judicial retention choice: 

1. The voter circles or underlines either the oval or arrow next to a candidate’s name, issue choice, or judicial retention choice. 

 

Valid Vote for Ball 

  

Valid Vote for Ball 

 

 

 

 

Valid Vote for Ball 

  

Valid Vote for Ball 

 

 

 
 

2. The voter circles or underlines the name of a candidate, issue choice, or judicial retention choice. 

 

Valid Vote for Arnaz 

  

Valid Vote for Arnaz 

 

 

 

 



3. The voter circles or underlines the party abbreviation associated with a candidate’s name. 

 

Valid Vote for Benny 

  

Valid Vote for Benny 

 

 

 
 

4. The voter marks an “X,” a check mark, a cross, a plus sign, an asterisk or a star, any portion of which is contained in a single 

oval or within the blank space between the head and tail of a single arrow. The marking must not enter into another oval or the space 

between the head and tail of another arrow. 

 

Valid Vote for Ball 

  

Valid Vote for Ball 

 
 

 

 

Invalid Vote  Invalid Vote 

 
 

 

 

 



5. The voter draws a diagonal, horizontal, or vertical line, any portion of which intersects two points on the oval and which does 

not intersect another oval at any two points. If it is a horizontal line, the line must not strike through the name of the candidate. 

 

Valid Vote for Ball 

  

Valid Vote for Ball 

 
 

 

 

Invalid Vote  Invalid Vote 

 
 

 

 

 

6. The voter draws a diagonal or vertical line that intersects an imaginary line extending from the center of the head of a single 

arrow to the center of the tail of the same arrow, provided the diagonal or vertical line does not intersect the imaginary line joining 

the head and tail of another arrow. 

 

Valid Vote for Ball 

  

Invalid Vote  

 

 

 
 

 



7. The voter marks all the choices for a race but further clarifies a choice for a particular candidate, issue choice or judicial 

retention choice by placing an additional mark or marks showing support solely for that particular candidate, issue or judicial 

retention choice.  

 

Valid Vote for Arnaz 

  

Valid Vote for Ball 

 

 

 
 

Valid Vote to Keep Justice in Office 

 

 

8. The voter strikes through all the choices for candidates, issue, or judicial retention except for one and also leaves the write-in 

candidate space blank. 

 

Valid Vote for Bruce 

 

 



9. The voter writes words such as “Vote for [candidate’s name],” “Count this vote” or “Vote no on amendment or referendum,” 

or “I want this one,” provided there are no other markings in the race that would constitute a valid vote for a different candidate, 

issue choice, or judicial retention choice pursuant to rule. 

 

 

Valid Vote for Arnaz 

  

Invalid Vote 

 

 

 
   

Valid “No” vote 

 
 

 



10. The voter fills in the majority of an oval, or the majority of the distance between the head and the tail of an arrow 

designating a particular candidate, issue choice, or judicial retention choice, regardless of how other races on the ballot are marked. 

 

Valid Vote for Arnaz 

  

Valid Vote for Arnaz 

 

 

 
 

11. If a voter marks fewer candidates than there are positions to be elected for those offices, then the votes for all of those 

marked candidates shall count. For example, if the voter is allowed to vote for 5 candidates in a special district election (“Vote for 

5”) and the voter marks 2 candidates, the votes for those two marked candidates shall count. 

 

Valid Votes for Arnaz and Bruce 

  

Valid Vote for Benny 

 

 

 
 



12. The voter draws an arrow from the arrow head to a particular candidate, issue choice or judicial retention choice or draws an 

arrow head on the tail end of the arrow in lieu of filling in the void between the arrow head and the tail for the particular candidate, 

issue choice or judicial retention choice. 

 

Valid Vote for Arnaz 

  

Valid Vote for Bruce 

 

 

 
 

13. The voter darkens or bolds the arrow head and the arrow tail but does not fill in the void between the arrow head and the 

tail. 

Valid Vote for Ball 

 

 



14. The voter punches the oval or the void between the arrow head and tail. 

 

Valid Vote for Ball 

  

Valid Vote for Benny 

 

 

 
 

15. The voter marks two or more choices similarly in one of the ways indicated in paragraphs 1.-14. and additionally writes in 

comments such as “not this,” “ignore this,” “don’t want,” or “wrong,” or “Vote for [candidate’s name]” such that voter’s definite 

choice is clearly indicated. 

 

Valid Vote for Ball 

  

Valid Vote for Arnaz 

 

 

 
 



 

(5) Write-in Voting.  

(a) A voter is determined to have made a definite choice for a write-in vote for the joint office of President/Vice-President if the 

voter writes in either the last name of the candidate for President or the last name of the candidate for Vice-President. This standard 

similarly applies to constitute a valid write-in vote for the joint office of Governor/Lieutenant Governor if the voter writes in either 

the last name of the candidate for Governor or the last name of the candidate for Lieutenant Governor. 

 

Valid Vote for Joint Qualified Write-in President and Vice President Candidates, Lenny Bruce and Sally Marr 

 

 

(b) A voter is determined to have made a definite choice for a named candidate if the voter indicates a vote for a candidate named on 

the ballot and also writes-in the name of that same candidate in the blank space for ‘write-in candidate’. 

 

Valid Vote for Benny 

 

 



(c) A voter is determined to have made a definite choice for a particular candidate if the voter either writes in the name of a 

qualified write-in candidate or the name of a candidate who is named on the ballot in that race, whether or not the oval or arrow 

designating the selection of a write-in candidate has been marked. 

 

Valid Vote for Smith, if Smith 

is a qualified write-in candidate 

 

 

Valid Vote for Bruce 

 

 

 
  

(d) If a voter abbreviates, misspells or varies the form of the name of a candidate in the write-in candidate space, it shall not 

affect the determination of whether the voter has made a definite choice.  

(e) If a voter indicates a vote for a candidate named on the ballot and also writes in a name of a different person in the write-in 

candidate space, it shall be considered an overvote and none of the votes are valid for that race. 

 

Invalid Vote 

  

Invalid Vote 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Kelly Barwick W Pty 

James Carlisle Y Pty 

Florence Davis Z Pty 

Doria Moody WW Pty 

Glen Saltman YY Pty 

David Warren ZZ Pty 
_Saltman_________________ 

(Write-In Candidate) 

Vote to be counted for: Saltman  

 

 

 
 □ Kelly Barwick W Pty 

 □ James Carlisle Y Pty 

 □ Florence Davis Z Pty 

 □ Doria Moody WW Pty 

 □ Glen Saltman YY Pty 

 □ David Warren ZZ Pty 

 □ __Moody_________________

  (Write-In Candidate) 

Vote to be counted for: Moody  

 

 
 

 
 

 ○ Kelly Barwick W Pty 

 ○ James Carlisle Y Pty 

 ○ Florence Davis Z Pty 

 ○ Doria Moody WW Pty 

 ○ Glen Saltman YY Pty 

 ○ David Warren ZZ Pty 
 ○ _Bob Smith   

 (Write-In Candidate) 

Vote to be counted for: Bob Smith *  

□ Desi Arnaz Z Pty 

□ Lenny Bruce WW Pty  

□  Kelly Barwick 

 (Write In Candidate) 

 



(6) Overvotes. Except as otherwise provided in subsections (4) and (5), if the voter marks more choices than there are positions 

or choices for that office or issue, it shall be considered an overvote and none of the votes are valid for that race. 

 

Invalid Vote 

  

Invalid Vote 

 

 

 
   

 

(7) Valid Vote.  

(a) A vote shall not count for any particular candidate, issue choice, or judicial retention choice at issue unless determined to be a 

valid vote pursuant to this rule. 

(b) If a voter does not mark a candidate, judicial retention choice, or issue choice in a contest, the valid votes for other candidates or 

issues on the same ballot shall still be counted. 

Rulemaking Authority 20.10(3), 97.021, 102.166(4) FS. Law Implemented 101.5614(5), 102.166(4), FS. History–New 6-6-02, Amended 10-6-08. 

 

 

 

 
 

□
 K

elly 

Barw

ick W 

Pty 

 

■
 Ja

mes 

Carli

sle Y 

Pty 

 

□
 Fl

orenc

e 

Davis Z Pty 

 

■
 D

oria 

Moo

dy

 W

W 

Pty 

 

□
 Gl

en 

Saltm

an

 Y

Y Pty 

 

□
 D

avid 

Warr

en

 Z

Z Pty 

 

□
 __

____

 

 
 

 
 

 

●
 K

elly 

Barw

ick W 

Pty 

 

○
 Ja

mes 

Carli

sle Y 

Pty 

 

○
 Fl

orenc

e 

Davis Z Pty 

 

○
 D

oria 

Moo

dy

 W

W 

Pty 

 

○
 Gl

en 

Saltm

an

 Y

Y Pty 

 

●
 D

avid 

Warr

en

 Z

Z Pty 
 
○
 __

____

____

 

 
 

 
 

Kelly 

Barw

ick W 

Pty 

Jame

s 

Carli

sle Y 

Pty 

Flore

nce 

Davis Z Pty 

Doria 

Moo

dy

 W

W 

Pty 

Glen 

Saltm

an

 Y

Y Pty 

Davi

d 

Warr

en

 Z

Z Pty 
____

____

____

____

____

____

__ 

(Write

-In 

Candi

date) 

Vote 

to be 

count

ed 

for: 

NO 

VOT

E  



�

�

��������	�
���
���������
�����������������	�	
�����������������������������	������������ �!"�#$�$�#�%&���&�''�&"�$()*�%�&��+�**"&�����)�#�&����+"����&�&(&����$�&����"&�#���&��&�#(*��,��,-.���$�)�#� #�)�����/���+�*"0��12�3456789:;�<966=:>�>?966�<;�@9A;�=B�<966=:>�:?9:�89CC=:�<;�D;9A�<E�:?;�94:=@9:78�:9<469:7CF�>E>:;@G�7C864A7CF�A9@9F;A�<966=:>G�B9H;A�<966=:>G�9CA�IJK�<966=:>�@9DL;A�4>7CF�:?;�3;@=8D98E�M7N;�988;>>7<767:E�5D=FD9@2�O2�P>�5;D�:?;�N=:;D�7C:;C:�D46;G�<966=:>�Q7:?�=N;DN=:;A�D98;>�7C�Q?78?�:?;�N=:;D�?9>�C=:�@9A;�9�A;B7C7:;�8?=78;�7C�:?;�=N;DN=:;A�D98;�=D�<966=:�@;9>4D;�A=�C=:�D;R47D;�A456789:7=C�9CA�>?966�<;�:9<469:;A�9>�@9DL;A2��S2�P>�5;D�:?;�N=:;D�7C:;C:�D46;G�<966=:>�Q7:?�4CA;DN=:;A�D98;>�7C�Q?78?�:?;�N=:;D�?9>�C=:�@9A;�9�A;B7C7:;�8?=78;�7C�:?;�4CA;DN=:;A�D98;�=D�<966=:�@;9>4D;�A=�C=:�D;R47D;�A456789:7=C�9CA�>?966�<;�:9<469:;A�9>�@9DL;A2��T2�P66�@9DL7CF>�B=D�Q?78?�N=:;D�7C:;C:�89CC=:�<;�D;9A76E�A;:;D@7C;A�9>�5;D�:?;�I=:;D�UC:;C:�V46;�>?966�<;�5D;>;C:;A�:=�:?;�W9CN9>>7CF�J=9DA�:=�<;�9AX4A789:;A2��Y2�P66�=D7F7C96�<966=:>�>?966�<;�@9DL;A�4>7CF�9�?7F?67F?:;D�:=�7CA789:;�Q?78?�<966=:�5=>7:7=C>�9D;�:=�<;�@9DL;A�=C�:?;�A456789:;A�<966=:�B=D�:9<469:7=C2��Z98?�=D7F7C96�9CA�8=DD;>5=CA7CF�A456789:;�<966=:�>?966�<;�@9DL;A�Q7:?�:?;�>9@;�>;D796�C4@<;D�7C�=DA;D�:=�D;[597D�:?;�=D7F7C96�Q7:?�:?;�A456789:;�7B�C;8;>>9DE2����

UB�9CE�N=:;[<E[\]̂_�̀]__ab�̂c�defĉg]__f�h]\]ijh�ca�be]b�̂b�g]kkab�dladjl_f�̀j�gamkbjh�̀f�bej�nab̂ki�cfcbj\oc�94:=@9:78�:9<469:7CF�;R475@;C:G�9�:D4;�A456789:;�8=5E�>?966�<;�@9A;�=B�:?;�A9@9F;A�<966=:�7C�9C�=5;C�9CA�988;>>7<6;�D==@�7C�:?;�5D;>;C8;�=B�Q7:C;>>;>�9CA�>4<>:7:4:;A�B=D�:?;�A9@9F;A�<966=:2�M7L;Q7>;G�9�A456789:;�<966=:�>?966�<;�@9A;�=B�9�N=:;[<E[@976�<966=:�8=C:97C7CF�9C�=N;DN=:;A�D98;�7B�:?;D;�7>�9�86;9D�7CA789:7=C�=C�:?;�<966=:�:?9:�:?;�N=:;D�?9>�@9A;�9�A;B7C7:;�8?=78;�7C�:?;�=N;DN=:;A�D98;�=D�<966=:�@;9>4D;2�P�A456789:;�>?966�7C864A;�966�N967A�N=:;>�9>�A;:;D@7C;A�<E�:?;�89CN9>>7CF�<=9DA�<9>;A�=C�D46;>�9A=5:;A�<E�:?;�A7N7>7=C�54D>49C:�:=�>2�1pO21qqrTs2�P�A456789:;�@9E�<;�@9A;�=B�9�<966=:�8=C:97C7CF�9C�4CA;DN=:;A�D98;�=D�<966=:�@;9>4D;�7B�:?;D;�7>�9�86;9D�7CA789:7=C�=C�:?;�<966=:�:?9:�:?;�N=:;D�?9>�@9A;�9�A;B7C7:;�8?=78;�7C�:?;�4CA;DN=:;A�D98;�=D�<966=:�\j]cmljt�u�hmd_̂g]bj�\]f�kab�̂kg_mhj�]�nabj�̂v�bej�nabjloc�̂kbjkb�̂k�cmge�l]gj�al�ak�cmge�\j]cmlj�̂c�kab�g_j]lt���P66�A456789:;�<966=:>�@4>:�<;�86;9D_f�_]̀j_jh�whmd_̂g]bjxy�̀j]l�]�cjl̂]_�km\̀ jl�zêge�ce]__�̀j�ljgalhjh�ak�bej�A;B;8:7N;�<966=:G�9CA�<;�8=4C:;A�7C�67;4�=B�:?;�A;B;8:7N;�<966=:2�{?;�A456789:7=C�=B�<966=:>�@4>:�?955;C�7C�:?;�5D;>;C8;�=B�9:�6;9>:�=C;�89CN9>>7CF�<=9DA�@;@<;D2�PB:;D�9�<966=:�?9>�<;;C�A456789:;AG�:?;�A;B;8:7N;�<966=:�>?966�<;�5698;A�7C�9C�;CN;6=5;�5D=N7A;A�B=D�:?9:�54D5=>;G�9CA�:?;�A456789:;�<966=:�>?966�<;�:9667;A�Q7:?�:?;�=:?;D�<966=:>�B=D�:?9:�5D;87C8:2����



 

    Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0010  (08/2020) Page 1 of 3 

  
 

Recount Procedure Summary  
DE Reference Guidelines 0010 (Updated 08/2020) 
These guidelines are for reference only. They are not to be construed as legal advice or representation. For any particular set of facts or 
circumstances, refer to the applicable state, federal law, and case law, and/or consult a private attorney before drawing any legal 
conclusions or relying upon this information. 

APPLICABLE LAW 
 Sections 102.141(7) and 102.166, Florida Statutes, and Rules 1S-2.027, 1S-2.031, and 1S-2.051 Fla. Admin. Code, 

govern recounts.1   

 This summary only represents a general overview. Please consult law and rule for specifics as they govern.   
 

ORDERING OF A RECOUNT 
 Who orders the recount?  

o   The Secretary of State orders any recount for federal, state, or multicounty races involving candidates for office, 
candidates for judicial retention, and measures appearing on the ballot.  

o   For all other races, the board certifying the results orders the recount.   

 A recount may not begin until it has been ordered to occur by the proper authority.  

 A candidate or political committee has no authority to request a recount.  

 A recount at a minimum consists of a machine recount; it may also include a manual recount. 
 

RACES NOT SUBJECT TO A RECOUNT (based upon the races not having “candidates” for office)   

 Presidential Preference Primary. 

 Political party executive committee (i.e., state, district, and precinct committeemen and committeewomen).  
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

 Public notice must be provided as soon as possible given the circumstances and the limited time schedule.  

 Machine and manual recounts are open to the public. 
 

MACHINE RECOUNT (S. 102.141(7), F.S.) 
 

STATUTORY DEADLINE TO REPORT 1ST SET OF UNOFFICIAL RETURNS (S. 102.141(5), F.S.) 

 After a Primary Election:  No later than noon on the 3rd day after the Primary Election. 

 After a General Election:  No later than noon on the 4th day after the General Election. 

 After a Special Primary or Special Election:  No later than noon on 4th day after the election.  (Laws governing 
general elections are applicable to special primary and special elections – s. 100.191, F.S.) 

 A machine recount must be ordered if the 1st set of unofficial returns indicates that a candidate was defeated or 
eliminated by ½ of 1% or less of the total votes cast for an office or if an issue was approved or rejected by ½ of 1% or 
less of the total votes cast on the issue.  

 Exception to a machine recount:  
o If a candidate or candidates who is defeated or eliminated from contention for the office by ½ of 1% or less 

requests in writing that a machine recount not be conducted. 

 The canvassing board must follow the procedures in Rule 1S-2.031, Fla. Admin. Code. 

 The machine recount constitutes a retabulation of all ballots.  

 Before the machine recount occurs, a new election definition must be created for the race(s) to be recounted.  
Parameters must be set to reject all overvotes and undervotes.  

 Before the start of the recount, a public test of the tabulating equipment must occur.  

                                                           
1 Sections 4 and 5 of chapter 2020 -109, Laws of Florida, will take effect in January 2021 and may change the process herein. 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.141.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0102/Sections/0102.166.html
http://election.myflorida.com/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/1S2027-final.pdf
http://election.myflorida.com/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/1s2031.pdf
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=ELECTIONS&ID=1S-2.051
http://election.myflorida.com/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/1s2031.pdf
http://laws.flrules.org/2020/109


 

    Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0010  (08/2020) Page 2 of 3 

 Optical scan ballots and hybrid voting system paper outputs:  The canvassing board must run each ballot with the 
affected race(s) through tabulator.  All overvotes (optical scan ballots only) and undervotes (optical scan/hybrid voting 
system paper outputs) are outstacked to be used in the manual recount if one becomes necessary.  

 Results: The results of the machine recount are included in the 2nd set of unofficial returns. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MANUAL RECOUNT (S. 102.166, F.S.) 

 A manual recount must be ordered if the 2nd set of unofficial returns indicates that a candidate was eliminated or 
defeated by ¼ of 1% or less of the votes cast for the office or an issue was approved or rejected by ¼ of 1% or less.  

 Exceptions to a manual recount:   
o If the candidate or candidates defeated or eliminated from contention for the office by ¼ of 1% or less request in 

writing that it not be conducted; or  
o If the number of overvotes and undervotes is fewer than the number of votes needed to change the outcome of 

the election.  

 The manual recount is only a recount of overvotes and undervotes as outstacked from the machine recount.  

 The canvassing board must use the procedures in Rule 1S-2.031, Fla. Admin. Code. 

 A vote for a candidate or issue must be counted if there is a clear indication on the ballot that a voter made a definite 
choice.  See Rules 1S-2.027 and 1S-2.051, Fla. Admin. Code. 

• Optical scan ballots and hybrid voting system paper outputs:   
o The canvassing board assigns counting teams to review the overvotes and undervotes (optical scan/hybrid voting 

system paper outputs). Authorized representatives are permitted to be present and object to any decision of the 
counting team, but they may not otherwise disturb or interfere with the recount.   

o Each counting team sorts the ballots into 3 stacks for the recounted race:  1) ballots determined to contain a valid 
vote; 2) ballots determined to contain no clear indication of choice; and 3) ballots set aside for canvassing board 
determination.   

•  Results:  The results from the manual recount are contained in the certification of the official returns.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
NO
TE:  Although the Presidential Preference Primary (PPP) is not subject to recount procedures, the deadlines for 
submission of the 1st set of unofficial returns and the official returns for the PPP are the same as for the General 
Election. 

 

EXAMPLES OF RECOUNT CALCULATIONS 

 

STATUTORY DEADLINE TO REPORT 2ND SET OF UNOFFICIAL RETURNS (S. 102.141(7)(C), F.S.) 

 After a Primary Election:  No later than 3 p.m. on the 5th day after the Primary Election. 

 After a General Election:  No later than 3 p.m. on the 9th day after the General Election. 

 After a Special Primary or Special Election:  No later than 3 p. m. on the 9th day after the election.  (Laws 
governing general elections are applicable to special primary and special elections – s. 100.191, F.S.) 

STATUTORY DEADLINE TO REPORT OFFICIAL RETURNS (S. 102.112(2), F.S.) 

 After a Primary Election:  No later than 5 p.m. on the 7th day after the Primary Election. 

 After a General Election:  No later than Noon on the 12th day after the General Election. 

 After a Special Primary or Special Election:  No later than Noon on 12th day after the election.  (Laws 
governing general elections are applicable to special primary and special elections – s. 100.191, F.S.) 

 If the results are not received by the time specified, such returns are ignored and the results on file at the 
specified time shall be certified by the Department of State. 

RACE WITH 2 CANDIDATES (PRIMARY OR GENERAL ELECTION BALLOT) 

http://election.myflorida.com/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/1s2031.pdf
http://election.myflorida.com/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/1S2027-final.pdf
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=ELECTIONS&ID=1S-2.051


 

    Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0010  (08/2020) Page 3 of 3 

 

NONPARTISAN  SCHOOL BOARD RACE WITH 3 CANDIDATES WITH NO CANDIDATE RECEIVING A MAJORITY OF THE VOTES 

CAST (PRIMARY  ELECTION) OR  ANY RACE INVOLVING “VOTE FOR NO MORE THAN 2” CANDIDATES (GENERAL ELECTION) 

 Candidate A:  4,010 votes – 26.04% 

 Candidate B:  7,315 votes – 47.50%  

 Candidate C:  4,075 votes – 26.46% 

 Total:              15,400 votes – 100% 

 Calculation: In the above race, Candidate A was eliminated as a candidate behind Candidate C by .42% (26.46% 
- 26.04% = .42%).   

 If this scenario was based upon the 1st set of unofficial returns, a machine recount is required because 
.42% ≤ .5%. (Note: ≤ .5% is the threshold for a machine recount.) 

If this scenario was based upon the 2nd set of unofficial returns, a manual recount is not required because .42% 

≥.25%.  (Note: ≤ .25% is the threshold for a manual recount.) 

 

 Candidate A:  9,755 votes – 49.77% 

 Candidate B:  9,845 votes – 50.23%  

 Total:            19,600 votes – 100% 

 Calculation:  50.23% - 49.77% = .45%; therefore, Candidate A was defeated by .45% of votes cast. 

 If this scenario was based upon the 1st set of unofficial returns, a machine recount is required because .45% 
≤ .5%.  (Note: ≤ .5% is the threshold for a machine recount.)   

 If this scenario was based upon the 2nd set of unofficial returns, a manual recount is not required because 
.45% ≥ .25%.  (Note: ≤ .25% is the threshold for a manual recount.) 

NONPARTISAN  SCHOOL BOARD RACE WITH 3 CANDIDATES WHERE ONE CANDIDATE  
HAS RECEIVED A MAJORITY OF THE VOTES CAST (PRIMARY BALLOT, ONLY) 

 Candidate A:  3,260 votes – 35.58% 

 Candidate B:  4,583 votes – 50.02%  

 Candidate C:  1,319 votes – 14.40% 

 Total:              9,162 votes – 100% 

 Per s. 105.051(1)(b), F.S., if two or more candidates, neither of whom is a write-in candidate, qualify for such 
office in the primary election, then the name of the candidate who receives the majority of the votes cast 
shall not appear on the general election ballot unless there is a write-in candidate.  If no candidate receives a 
majority of the votes cast, the names of the two candidates receiving the highest number of votes for the 
office will be placed on the general election ballot.   
 

 Calculation: In the above race, both Candidate A and Candidate C are eliminated as candidates for the general 
election because Candidate B received more than 50% of the votes cast.  Candidate A and Candidate C’s 
combined vote total equals 49.98%; 35.58% + 14.40% = 49.98%.   Candidate B beat both Candidate A and 
Candidate C by .02%  of the votes cast; 50.02% - 49.98% = .02%.  

 If this scenario was based upon the 1st set of unofficial returns, a machine recount is required because 
.02% ≤ .5%. (Note: ≤ .5% is the threshold for a machine recount.) 

 If this scenario was based upon the 2nd set of unofficial returns, a manual recount is required because .02% 
≤ .25%.  (Note: ≤ .25% is the threshold for a manual recount.) 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0105/Sections/0105.051.html


  

Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0011  (08/2020) Page 1 of 4 

  
 

Post-Election Audit Procedure Summary  
DE Reference Guidelines 0011 (Updated08/2020) 
These guidelines are for reference only. They are not to be construed as legal advice or representation. For any particular set of facts or 
circumstances, refer to the applicable state, federal law, and case law, and/or consult a private attorney before drawing any legal 
conclusions or relying upon this information. 

APPLICABLE LAW 
 Section 101.591, Florida Statutes (2013), and Rule 1S-5.026, Fla. Admin. Code, govern the post-election audit process.   

 This summary only represents a general overview. Please consult law and rule for specifics as they govern.    
 

WHEN IS A POST-ELECTION AUDIT CONDUCTED?  
 Immediately following the certification of any election, to include municipal or special district elections.   

 The audit must be completed and the results made public no later than 11:59 p.m. on the 7th day following 
certification of the election by “the county canvassing board or the local board responsible for certifying the election” 
[hereinafter “Board”]. 
  

WHAT TYPES OF AUDITS ARE ALLOWED? 
 Two types are permissible: 

o Manual audit 
 Consists of a manual tally in one randomly selected race that appears on the ballot in at least 1% but no more 

than 2% of the precincts chosen at random by the Board at a publicly noticed Board meeting.   
 If 2% or less of the precincts equals less than a whole number, the number of precincts shall be rounded up the 

next whole number.  
o Automated, independent audit 

 Consists of a public automated tally of the votes cast across all races in at least 20% of the precincts chosen at 
random by the Board at a publicly noticed Board meeting.   

 If 20% of the precincts equals less than a whole number, the number of precincts shall be rounded up the next 
whole number.  

 Before an automated, independent audit system is used, the Division of Elections must approve the system.  
 

PRE-AUDIT PREPARATION 

 Prior to the audit, the Supervisor of Elections, working with the Board should: 
o Secure a site for the audit.  The room for the audit must be large enough to at least accommodate the Board, 

necessary audit teams, and a maximum of 2 observers per audit team.   
o For a manual audit, arrange for sufficient audit teams to conduct an audit of a state or county-wide race (if the 

race selected is less than a state or county-wide race, even though all of the teams may not have to participate, it 
will be easier to be prepared with more teams than needed than to arrange others to participate on short 
notice). 

o Ensure that all ballots are sorted by precinct (this can be done at any time – the sorting does not need to wait 
until the election is certified). The sorted ballots should be kept separate – for example, place all election day 
ballots from precinct 1 in a separate stack, all vote-by-mail  ballots from precinct 1 in a separate stack, and all 
early voting ballots from precinct 1 in a separate stack. (Provisional ballots may be grouped separately or in one 
of the above 3 categories, as applicable.)  Repeat this process for each precinct. Once the precinct is chosen for 
the audit, it will be easier to gather all ballots from that precinct. The audit results will be broken down according 
to Election Day, vote-by-mail, and early voting ballots.  Overseas vote-by-mail ballots are to be grouped with 
other vote-by-mail ballots. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.591.html
http://election.myflorida.com/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/1S5026.pdf


  

Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0011  (08/2020) Page 2 of 4 

 Public notice 
o Ensure public notice (time, date, and place) is provided at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting to conduct 

the audit, to include the random selection of the race(s) and precincts.   
o The notice may be published before the certification of the official election results, but neither the random 

selection nor the audit can occur until after the certification. 
o Notice shall be posted in four conspicuous places in the county and on the home page of the Supervisor of 

Elections’ website.  (A hyperlink to the notice on the website will satisfy the home page requirement.) 
 

 Board Preliminary Duties: 
o Note:  A majority of the Board must be present at all times during the audit process.   
o Reviews rules and statutes governing audit procedures. 
o Reviews Supervisor of Elections’ security procedures for audits. 
o Ensures minutes of the audit are taken, recorded, and maintained. 
o Appoints as many audit teams as necessary. 
o May adopt rules and policies to ensure public does not interfere with audit.  If room is not large enough to 

accommodate all public observers present, the Board must provide for the random selection of observers.  
o Verifies an accurate ballot count exists between the number of ballots cast in the applicable precincts and races 

and the number of ballots to be audited.  
 If the difference is ½ of 1% or more, the Board must investigate to determine if the discrepancy can be 

resolved.   
 If discrepancy cannot be resolved, the Board must provide an explanation on the Voting System Post-Election 

Audit Report, Form DS-DE 107.  
o Determine the method of random selection of the race and precincts to be audited in a manner that the public is 

assured that all races and precincts are included in the selection method.  Examples of a selection method:  
drawing lots, ten-sided dice, and computerized random selection.  
 If multiple municipal or other elections are held on the same day in the county and the Board certifies the 

elections, only one audit is required but all elections are to be included in the random selection of race(s) and 
precincts. 

o Selection of the race occurs before selection of the precinct(s) in a manual audit.  (In an automated, independent 
audit, all races are included.)  

o To the extent possible, the certified results from the selected race(s) and precincts(s) to be audited must not be 
disclosed in advance to the audit teams.   
 

 Handling of ballots:  No person, except a member of the Board, an employee of the Supervisor of Elections, or an 
audit team member may handle any ballot or ballot container. 
 

   
MANUAL AUDIT PROCEDURES 

 Board makes random selection of race(s) and precinct(s).   

 Once begun, a manual audit continues until it is completed.  A recess may occur, but security procedures established 
by the Supervisor of Elections, must account for the security of the ballots and tally results during the recess.  

 

 Optical scan ballots: 
o Election Day, early voted, and vote-by-mail ballots shall be audited separately (provisional ballots shall be audited 

separately if tabulated separately). 
o Audit team examines ballots and if in agreement places them into one of the following 4 stacks:  1) overvoted, 2) 

undervoted, 3) Clear voter intent), and 4) unclear voter intent (i.e. ambiguous marks). 
o Audit team sorts the ballots in the “should have been tabulated stack” according to the voter’s choice in the 

audited race (e.g., all votes for Candidate A are placed in one stack, all votes for Candidate B in another stack). 
o Audit team tallies the votes from each stack and records the tally on Manual Audit Team Worksheet for 

Marksense Ballots, DS-DE 105B. 
o For races with “Vote for no more than ___”, the audit team: 

http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE107_Voting_Systems_Audit_Report-2013_amendment.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE105B_Manual_Audit_Team_Worksheet-Marksense_Ballots.pdf


  

Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0011  (08/2020) Page 3 of 4 

 Sorts undervoted ballots with no selection made and records the count. 
 Sorts the remaining undervoted ballots into two stacks:  A stack containing Candidate A and a stack containing 

the remaining candidates. The audit team records the votes for Candidate A on Manual Audit Team Worksheet 
for Marksense Ballots, DS-DE 105B. 

 Re-sorts the ballots again into two stacks:  A stack containing Candidate B and a stack containing the remaining 
candidates. The audit team records the votes for Candidate B on the Manual Audit Team Worksheet for 
Marksense Ballots, DS-DE 105B. 

 Repeats the above two steps for each subsequent candidate until all candidates’ votes are recorded on the DS-
DE 105B. 

 Tallies the votes for each stack and records the tally on Manual Audit Team Worksheet for Marksense Ballots, 
DS-DE 105B. 
 

 Results Compilation: 
o The Supervisor of Elections prints a report from the voting system for the precincts selected which provides the 

group detail of the number of ballots for Election Day, early voting, vote-by-mail and provisional (unless the 
provisional ballots are included in one of the other ballot numbers).  This report is not to be shown to the audit 
team members.  

o The Board compares the numbers listed on the report from voting system with those from the manual audit 
 If the manual tally and official totals match, the result is listed on the Precinct Summary for Manual Audit, DS-

DE 106. 
 If there is a discrepancy of more than ½ of 1%, the Board shall determine if it can be reconciled by further 

review of the official results with the audit teams’ stacks. 
 If discrepancy is still more than ½ of 1%, a different audit team conducts a manual re-tally.  If the totals do not 

match, the Board will record such on the Precinct Summary for Manual Audit, DS-DE 106. 
o Within 15 days after completion of the audit, the Board must provide a report of the audit results to the 

Department of State. 
 
 

AUTOMATED INDEPENDENT AUDIT (AIA) PROCEDURES 

 Scanner test:  Each day before the Supervisor of Elections scans ballots in preparation for the AIA, the supervisor must 
test each scanner as prescribed by the AIA vendor to ensure the scanner is operating properly.   

 AIA software test:  Before scanning ballots in any election, the Supervisor of Elections must test the tabulation 
accuracy of the AIA software by performing a logic and accuracy test on at least one of the scanners that is used for 
scanning ballots. 

 AIA system test:  Before beginning an AIA, the Board shall test the AIA system to ascertain that the system will 
correctly count the votes cast.   

 Board makes random selection of precinct(s):  All races in the precinct(s) chosen will be tallied.   

 Official paper ballots:  The AIA system shall produce and print the tally for all races from the selected precincts of 
ballots cast by ballot type (i.e. at the lowest level of aggregation).  

 Results Compilation: 
o After the AIA system has finalized its tally, the Board or AIA system shall compile and compare the results to the 

official vote totals for all races in the selected precincts. 
 The results of the AIA shall be produced as a summary report listing the number of ballot and vote 

discrepancies computed at the lowest level of aggregation reported in the election. 
 If there is a discrepancy of less than ½ of 1%, the Board shall record the result on the Voting System Post-

Election Audit Report, DS-DE 107. 
 If the discrepancy is ½ of 1% or more, the Board: 

 Must investigate by reviewing the ballot images or extracts therefrom to ascertain if the vote was marked 
in a race that likely was not read by the voting system tabulator or AIA system. 

 Must prepare a Discrepancy Report for Automated Independent Audit, DS-DE 106A, or the AIA system 
may print a report with the same required information. 

 Must explain the discrepancy on the Voting System Post-Election Audit Report, DS-DE 107. 

http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE105B_Manual_Audit_Team_Worksheet-Marksense_Ballots.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE105B_Manual_Audit_Team_Worksheet-Marksense_Ballots.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE105B_Manual_Audit_Team_Worksheet-Marksense_Ballots.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE105B_Manual_Audit_Team_Worksheet-Marksense_Ballots.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE105B_Manual_Audit_Team_Worksheet-Marksense_Ballots.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE106_Precinct_Summary-Manual_Audit_2013_amendments.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE106_Precinct_Summary-Manual_Audit_2013_amendments.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE106_Precinct_Summary-Manual_Audit_2013_amendments.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE107_Voting_Systems_Audit_Report-2013_amendment.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE106A_precinct_summary_for_AIA.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE107_Voting_Systems_Audit_Report-2013_amendment.pdf


Florida Department of State  DOS DE Reference Guide 0011  (08/2020) Page 4 of 4

o Within 15 days after completion of the audit, the Board must provide a report of the audit results to the
Department of State.

AUDIT REPORT 

 Due to Division of Elections 15 days after completion of the audit.

 Content:  The audit report (Voting System Post-Election Audit Report, DS-DE 107) shall include a description of:
o Overall accuracy of the audit.
o Problems/discrepancies encountered, if any.
o The likely cause of any problems/discrepancies encountered, if any.
o Recommended corrective or remedial actions for any problems/discrepancies encountered for future elections

 For manual audit, the report must be accompanied by the Precinct Summary for Manual Audit, DS-DE 106 for each
precinct audited.

 For an automated independent audit, the report must be accompanied by the summary report as specified in Rule 1S-
5.026, Fla. Admin. Code, or a Discrepancy Report for Automated Independent Audit, DS-DE 106A.

http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE107_Voting_Systems_Audit_Report-2013_amendment.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE106_Precinct_Summary-Manual_Audit_2013_amendments.pdf
http://election.myflorida.com/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/1S5026.pdf
http://election.myflorida.com/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/1S5026.pdf
http://doedoe.dos.state.fl.us/rules/adopted-rules/pdf/DSDE106A_precinct_summary_for_AIA.pdf

	A. Agenda
	B. 2022-009-A
	C. Definintion_Canvass
	D. Meeting_Guidlines
	E. DE Guide 0020- Canvassing Board Membership and Activities FINAL 20220322
	F. Daily_Activities
	G. Daily_Activities_Calendar
	H. DE Guide 0019 - Guidelines for Logic  Accuracy Testing_Final 20200815
	I. LandA_Equipment
	J. VBMTypes
	K. DE Guide 0002 - Fed - State Write-In Vote-by-Mail Ballots- Updated 7-2018 Final
	L. MARG_Voters
	M. Absentee Totals (1)
	N. Notice_ DOS Online Signature Matching_Verification Training Program
	O. VBM_Criteria
	P. Provisional_Criteria
	Q. DE Guide 0009-Guidelines for Voter Challenges 202003
	R. Cure_Affidavit_Guidelines
	S. Public_Inspection_Ballots_Certificates
	T. Review_Inspection_Certain_Materials_Authorized_persons
	U. Observation_TabulationTab
	V. Observation_Duplication
	W. Observation_VBM_Opening
	X.  Filing_Protest
	Y. Determining_Voter_Intent
	Z. Duplication_Policy_Guidelines
	ZZ. DE Guide 0010- Recount Procedure Summary -Final20200815
	ZZZ. DE Guide 0011- Post-Election Audit Procedure Summary - Final20200815



